brought to you by TCORE

Journal of Affective Disorders 191 (2016) 62-77

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Affective Disorders

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jad

Review article

Identifying the women at risk of antenatal anxiety and depression: A systematic review



Alessandra Biaggi^{a,*}, Susan Conroy^b, Susan Pawlby^b, Carmine M. Pariante^b

^a PO63 Section of Perinatal Psychiatry, Department of Psychosis Studies, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience, King's College London, De Crespigny Park, London SE5 8AF, United Kingdom

^b Section of Perinatal Psychiatry, Department of Psychological Medicine, Institute of Psychiatry Psychology & Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

ARTICLE INFO

Article history:

19 October 2015

Keywords:

Risk factors

Received 14 May 2015

Antenatal depression

Antenatal mental health

Antenatal anxiety

Received in revised form

Accepted 11 November 2015

Available online 18 November 2015

ABSTRACT

Background: Pregnancy is a time of increased vulnerability for the development of anxiety and depression. This systematic review aims to identify the main risk factors involved in the onset of antenatal anxiety and depression.

Methods: A systematic literature analysis was conducted, using PubMed, PsychINFO, and the Cochrane Library. Original papers were included if they were written in English and published between 1st January 2003 and 31st August 2015, while literature reviews and meta-analyses were consulted regardless of publication date. A final number of 97 papers were selected.

Results: The most relevant factors associated with antenatal depression or anxiety were: lack of partner or of social support; history of abuse or of domestic violence; personal history of mental illness; unplanned or unwanted pregnancy; adverse events in life and high perceived stress; present/past pregnancy complications; and pregnancy loss.

Limitations: The review does not include a meta-analysis, which may have added additional information about the differential impact of each risk factor. Moreover, it does not specifically examine factors that may influence different types of anxiety disorders, or the recurrence or persistence of depression or anxiety from pregnancy to the postpartum period.

Conclusions: The results show the complex aetiology of antenatal depression and anxiety. The administration of a screening tool to identify women at risk of anxiety and depression during pregnancy should be universal practice in order to promote the long-term wellbeing of mothers and babies, and the knowledge of specific risk factors may help creating such screening tool targeting women at higher risk. © 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	. 63
2.	Methods	. 64
3.	Results	. 64
	3.1. Psychological and psychiatric risk factors	. 64
	3.2. Social support and marital relationship risk factors	. 66
	3.3. Socio-demographic and economic risk factors	. 67
	3.4. Adverse events in life and perceived stress	. 68
	3.5. Obstetric and pregnancy-related risk factors	. 68
	3.6. Personality risk factors	. 69
4.	Discussion	. 69
5.	Limitations	. 74
6.	Conclusions	. 74
Fur	ding sources	. 74

* Corresponding author.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.014

0165-0327/© 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

E-mail address: alessandra.biaggi@kcl.ac.uk (A. Biaggi).

Contributions.	. 74
Acknowledgements	. 74
References	. 74

1. Introduction

Pregnancy and the postpartum can be times of joy and positive expectations but also of stress and difficulties. Pregnancy and delivery bring many physiological and psychosocial changes, and both mothers and fathers are required to face several new challenges during this period. Consequently, pregnancy and the post partum are times of increased vulnerability for the onset or relapse of a mental illness (Smith et al., 2011). Depression and anxiety are the most common psychiatric disorders during pregnancy and the post partum (Alipour et al., 2012) and the symptoms can range from mild to severe. However, we still do not know why some women are more "at risk" of developing depression or anxiety symptoms while others remain resilient even in the face of adversity.

The estimated prevalence of perinatal anxiety and depression varies between studies. The prevalence of antenatal depression is estimated to be between 7% and 20% in high- income countries (Andersson et al., 2003; Evans et al., 2001; Gavin et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2007; Marcus et al., 2003; Melville et al., 2010), while rates of 20% or more have been reported in low- and middle-income countries, although less research has been conducted in these areas (Faisal-Cury et al., 2009; Golbasi et al., 2010; Husain et al., 2012, 2011). Gavin et al. found that the prevalence of antenatal depression in the first trimester is 11.0%, then drops to 8.5% in the second and third trimesters (Gavin et al., 2005). In contrast, Bennett et al. found an opposite trend, with a prevalence of 7.4% during the first, 12.8% during the second, and 12% during the third trimester (Bennett et al., 2004). Postpartum depression prevalence is estimated to be between 7% and 30% across low-, middle- and high-income countries (Beck, 2001: Csatordai et al., 2007:Parsons et al., 2012). Indeed, a recent review showed that, in 22 of 28 lowand middle-income countries, postnatal depression prevalence was higher than in high-income countries, with the highest values in Vietnam (33%), Zimbabwe (33%) and Guyana (50%), and lowest in Uganda (7.1%) and Nepal (4.9%) (Parsons et al., 2012). Prevalence of postnatal depression in high-income countries begins to rise after delivery and reaches the highest value in the third month postpartum (12.9%), and then declines to 10.6% at month 7 and to 6.5% after month 7 (Gavin et al., 2005). The prevalence of both classes of disorders tends to be higher when symptoms, rather than disorders, are investigated, or when depression or anxiety is assessed by a self-report rating scale rather than a structured interview, or when operational criteria are not used for the diagnosis (Bennett et al., 2004). In general, the postpartum period has historically been the focus of far greater research attention than the antenatal period, despite the fact that some studies have shown a decrease, rather than an increase, in depression and anxiety after childbirth (Heron et al., 2004). A recent review (Norhayati et al., 2015) has shown that antenatal depression and anxiety are significant risk factors for postnatal depression in both developed and developing countries, together with a previous history of psychiatric illness, poor marital relationship, stressful life events, a negative attitude towards the pregnancy, and lack of social support. The present systematic review will focus on the risk factors for antenatal depression and anxiety.

There are a number of reasons why mental health problems in the antenatal period have received much less attention than in the postpartum. For example, there is the misconception that women

are "hormonally protected" from psychological disturbance during pregnancy (Bennett et al., 2004). Moreover, women can themselves be reluctant to share symptoms of sadness and irritability owing to the stigma associated with depression and to the discrepancy between women's expectation of happiness during pregnancy (and the postpartum period) and their own experience (Marcus, 2009). Furthermore, there is a tendency to focus on (maternal and foetal) physical health during pregnancy, rather than mental health, and to misattribute emotional complaints to the physical and hormonal changes that occur during pregnancy (Bowen and Muhajarine, 2006a). Indeed, these women often present with atypical symptoms of depression and unspecified somatic complaints (Posternak and Zimmerman, 2001), such as fatigue, loss of energy, appetite and sleep changes, rather than depressed mood. Therefore, it can be difficult to distinguish between "normal" pregnancy symptoms, which are common during pregnancy, and atypical somatic complaints, which may be related to depression or anxiety (Lee et al., 2007; Marchesi et al., 2009). This obviously makes it more complicated to diagnose depression and anxiety without a standardized assessment (Andersson et al., 2006). For this reason, the most validated and widely used selfreport screening tool for depression during the perinatal period, the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS), does not include questions about somatic complaints, fatigue and changes in appetite, as these complaints would not help to distinguish depressed from non-depressed women (Murray and Cox, 1990). Therefore, somatic complaints may lead to the overdiagnosis of depression during the perinatal period. However, it has also been argued that not considering somatic complaints may interfere with the measure of the severity of the illness (Yonkers et al., 2009). Indeed, most of the women with higher EPDS scores also present a greater number of somatic complaints (Apter et al., 2013; Zelkowitz et al., 2004). Therefore, there is a risk that clinicians and patients may attribute somatic symptoms to the normal course of the pregnancy and the postpartum period rather than to a depressive disorder (Klein and Essex, 1994).

Diagnosing antenatal depression can also be difficult if women are only screened once throughout pregnancy. In fact, multiple evaluations during pregnancy can show differences in the rates of depression and anxiety. To this end, some studies (Bunevicius et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2007; Marchesi et al., 2009; Yanikkerem et al., 2013) have shown that depressive episodes occur more frequently during the first and third trimester of pregnancy, compared with the second, possibly because the most vulnerable women are more likely to experience stress when they are coping with the new event of becoming mothers, and when they are about to deliver and start a new life (Marchesi et al., 2009). The fact that many women present anxiety or depressive symptoms at one or two time points implies that only one screening is not enough during pregnancy. These circumstances make antenatal depression among the most under-recognized and under-treated conditions (Marcus, 2009).

This lack of recognition has serious implications, as it is now widely recognized that maternal depression, anxiety and stress during pregnancy have powerful long-term effects on both mother and baby (Dunkel Schetter and Tanner, 2012; Glover, 2015). The underlying biological mechanisms have not been fully understood but it has been suggested that a decrease in blood flow to the foetus and/or an increased exposure of the foetus to cortisol may

be some of the possible mediating factors. Maternal increased levels of cortisol that have been associated with depression, anxiety and stress, can cross the placenta and be transferred to the foetal environment and affect the developing foetus (Glover, 2014). Antenatal depression and anxiety have also been associated with inadequate nutrition and weight gain, increased alcohol consumption, substance abuse and smoking (Marcus, 2009); moreover, mothers with antenatal anxiety and depression are more likely to access perinatal services late, to attend antenatal appointments less frequently, and to fail to have regular scans (Kim et al., 2006; Redshaw and Henderson, 2013). Some studies have found that these women have more visits to the obstetrician. mainly related to the fear of childbirth, and show a preference for an elective caesarean section (Andersson et al., 2004; Rubertsson et al., 2014). Moreover, depression and anxiety have been linked to stillbirth, premature birth, low birth weight, low Apgar scores, smaller head circumference and major congenital anomalies (Marcus, 2009; Raisanen et al., 2014) as well as altered developmental trajectories as shown by a reduced score on the Brazelton Neonatal Behavioural Assessment Scale, a more difficult temperament, and an increased risk of emotional problems (especially anxiety and depression), impaired cognitive development, and symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and conduct disorder during childhood (Glover, 2014; O'Connor et al., 2002; Previti et al., 2014). These children are also at increased risk of impulsivity and cognitive disorders at 14 and 15 years old (Van den Bergh et al., 2005), and at increased risk of encountering adverse life events and of developing depression in adolescence and adulthood (Pariante, 2014; Pawlby et al., 2011; Plant et al., 2015; Stein et al., 2014). Antenatal depression has also been recognized as the strongest predictor of postnatal depression, and postnatal depression is the strongest predictor of parenting stress and difficulties in the mother-infant relationship (Leigh and Milgrom, 2008). Taken together, these numerous lines of evidence point to the importance of focusing on the antenatal period in order to develop preventive and therapeutic interventions.

A psychosocial assessment, in the sense of a comprehensive and multidimensional evaluation of a woman's psychosocial circumstances (e.g., sources of support, quality of her relationships, recent life stressors, past or current physical or sexual abuse) should be common practice for all women during the antenatal period. In fact, this assessment would help health professionals to identify women with a high-risk profile but not currently symptomatic and, therefore, to offer them preventive interventions (Austin, 2014; Milgrom and Gemmill, 2014). Unfortunately, this assessment is not always conducted, and therefore many women are not identified as being at risk for, or as currently suffering from, antenatal anxiety and depression (Andersson et al., 2003; Marcus et al., 2003). However, in the perinatal period both parents are often highly motivated to seek help for their babies' wellbeing and for the potential reduction in intergenerational family dysfunction, and hence this is a unique opportunity to provide preventive interventions for the mental health of the whole family (Austin, 2014).

A recent systematic review on this topic by Lancaster et al. (2010) was focused on the identification of risk factors for antenatal depression that could be assessed during routine obstetric care. In fact, because most women use obstetric services during the course of their pregnancy, this is a great opportunity to identify women at risk, and eventually to treat them and to follow them up (Lancaster et al., 2010). This review identified 57 studies published between January 1980 and March 2008 in the United States, Canada, Europe, Australia and New Zealand and found that the main risk factors associated with depressive symptoms during pregnancy are maternal anxiety, life stress, a history of depression, lack of support, domestic violence and unintended pregnancy.

The purpose of our systematic review is to describe the main psycho-social, obstetric and environmental risk factors involved in the development of antenatal anxiety and depression, including a wider range of low-, middle- and high-income countries compared with those considered by Lancaster et al. (2010).

2. Methods

A systematic literature analysis was performed with the aim of identifying the main psycho-social and environmental risk factors involved in the onset of antenatal anxiety and depression. We used databases for psychological and medical research (PubMed, PsychINFO and the Cochrane Library), to select relevant studies and reviews, with the following key words, as single terms or in combination: antenatal depression; antenatal anxiety; risk factors for antenatal mental health; risk factors for depression/anxiety during pregnancy, risk factors for prenatal depression/anxiety; antenatal depression/anxiety risk factors; prenatal depression/anxiety risk factors; screening; assessments; evaluations. Relevant papers cited in the references of selected articles were further considered for inclusion in the review. Original papers were included if they were written in English and published between 1st January 2003 and 31st August 2015. In addition, the following sources of grey literature were consulted: NICE guidelines, reports from related charities (for example, Tommy's) and scientific organizations (for example, Marcé Society) and information on relevant websites (Austin, 2014; NICE, 2014; Tommy's, 2013). Twelve literature reviews and meta-analyses regarding perinatal mental illness and relevant risk factors were consulted regardless of publication date (Beck, 2001; Bennett et al., 2004; Gavin et al., 2005; Howard et al., 2013; Lancaster et al., 2010; Norhayati et al., 2015; O'hara and Swain, 1996: Parsons et al., 2012: Paulson and Bazemore, 2010: Previti et al., 2014: Robertson et al., 2004: Siegel and Brandon, 2014). After crossreferencing the different sources and excluding duplicates and irrelevant papers, 97 papers were selected (see Table 1). Studies conducted on particular and high-risk populations, such as women exposed to major environmental catastrophes like earthquakes or tsunamis, women with pre-existing health conditions such as HIV or obesity, women with health conditions associated with pregnancy such as diabetes, with high risk pregnancies or with babies with congenital anomalies, were all excluded. Moreover, we have not included risk factors related to physical health. Studies conducted with the aim of investigating risk factors for persistent and recurrent depressive episodes during pregnancy have been included, but studies describing risk factors for persistency of depression and anxiety from pregnancy into the postpartum period have been excluded. Moreover, studies were excluded if the measures used, the risk factors investigated, the times of the assessments and the statistical analysis were not clearly described, or if they had explored risk factors for depression and/or anxiety in the perinatal period (either pregnancy or postpartum) and it was not possible to determine if the risk factors were unequivocally related to the antenatal period.

An additional 46 papers regarding the epidemiology of perinatal anxiety and depression, the bio-psycho-social mechanisms involved, child development outcomes, and preventive interventions, have been included in this review, either in the introduction and/or in the results. These papers have been identified either in the databases consulted or from the references of the studies included in the review.

3. Results

3.1. Psychological and psychiatric risk factors

Depression and anxiety are highly comorbid during the antenatal period, and indeed high anxiety during pregnancy is one of

Гab	le	1			

Studies included in this review, in alphabetical order.

Authors	Year of publication	Country	Sample size
Abuidhail, J., Abujilban, S.	2014	Jordania	218
Abujilban, S.K., et al.	2013	Jordan	218
Adewuya, A.O., et al.	2007	Nigeria	180
Agostini, F., et al.	2015	Italy	404
Ajinkya, S., et al.	2013	India	185
Akcal, X.A.P., et al.	2014	Turkey	463
Ali, N.S., et al.	2012	Pakistan	165
Armstrong, D.S.	2004	USA	40
Balestrieri, M., et al.	2012	Italy	1608
Bayrampour, H., et al.	2015	Canada	3021
Bergner, A., et al.	2008	Germany	177
Bicking Kinsey, C., et al.	2015	USA	3006
Bilszta, J.L., et al.	2008	Australia	1578
Bodecs, T., et al.	2013	Hungary	503
Bottomley, K.L., Lan- caster, S.J.	2008	Australia	94
Bowen, A., et al.	2009	Canada	402
Bowen, A., Muhajarine, N.	2006	Canada	39
Brittain, K., et al.	2015	South Africa	726
Bunevicius, R., et al.	2009	Lithuania	230
Canady, R.B., et al.	2008	USA	2731
Chojenta, C., et al.	2014	Australia	584
Cooklin, A.R., et al.	2007	Australia	165
Dibaba, Y., et al.	2013	Ethiopia	627
Dmitrovic, B.K., et al.	2014	Serbia	212
Edge, D.	2007	UK	301
Edwards, B., et al.	2008	Australia	421
Elsenbruch, S., et al.	2007	Germany	896
Faisal-Cury, A., Rossi Menezes, P.	2007	Brazil	432
Faisal-Cury, A., et al. Fellenzer, J.L., Cibula, D. A	2009 2014	Brazil USA	831 19.219
Figueiredo B et al	2007	Portugal	108
Fisher L et al	2007	Vietnam	364
Fisher L et al	2013	Vietnam	419
Fonseca-Machado Mde	2015	Brazil	358
O et al	2015	Didzii	550
Cavin AR et al	2011	LISA	1997
Ciardinelli I et al	2011	Italy	590
Cinchurg CS et al	2012		53
Clazier R H et al	2008	LISA	2052
Colbasi 7 ot al	2004	Turkov	2032
Cong X of al	2010	China	19 665
Crant KA et al	2013	Australia	1/0
Grant, K.A., et al.	2012	South Africa	149
Hartley M et al	2012	South Africa	1062
Holzman C ot al	2011		1002
Hussip N of al	2000		714
Husain, N., et al.	2012	UN Dalrictan	/14
Husdill, N., et al.	2011	Pakistali	1337
Jeolig, H.G., et al.	2013	KOI'Ed	1202
Jesse, D.E., et al.	2005	USA	130
Kariiialialii, K., et al.	2009	Pakistan	1369
LallZl, R.G., et al.	2009	USA China (Uhana Kana)	000
Lee, A.M., et al.	2007	China (Hong Kong)	357
Leign, B., Milgrom, J.	2008	Australia	367
LUKE, S., et al.	2009	USA Jaal	546
Lyusuottii, L.B., et al.	2014	Terrenie	2411
Manenge, B., et al. Manikkam, L., Burns, J.	2013	South Africa	387
Marchesi C et al	2014	Italy	277
Marchesi C et al	2014	Italy	154
Marcus SM at al	2003	LICA	1J4 2472
Martin SL at al	2005		05 05
Martini I at al	2000	Cormany	306
widfulli, J., et al.	2015	Germany	1000
Mereu Chatal	2010	USA	1000
wiezey, G., et al.	2005	UK	200
wiiszkurka, M., et al.	2012	Canada	5321
wonammad, K.I., et al.	2011	jordan Malausi	353
wonamad Yusuff, A.S., et al.	2015	ivialaysia	2072

Table 1	(continued)
---------	-------------

Authors	Year of	Country	Sample size
	publication		
Nasreen, H.E., et al.	2011	Bangladesh	720
Plant, D.T., et al.	2013	UK	125
Prady, S.L., et al.	2013	UK	8454
Qiao, Y.X., et al.	2009	China	527
Raisanen, S., et al.	2014	Finland	511.938
Ratcliff, B.G., et al.	2015	Switzerland	93
Records, K., Rice, M.	2007	USA	139
Redshaw, M., Hender- son, J.	2013	UK	5332
Rich-Edwards, J.W., et al.	2006	USA	1662
Rich-Edwards, J.W., et al.	2011	USA	3637
Robertson-Blackmore, E., et al.	2013	USA	374
Rodriguez, M.A., et al.	2008	USA	210
Rubertsson, C., et al.	2003	Sweden	3001
Rubertsson, C., et al.	2014	Sweden	916
Seng, J.S., et al.	2014	USA	1581
Shakeel, N., et al.	2015	Norway	749
Shen, J.J., et al.	2010	USA	877,579
Simpson, J.A., et al.	2003	USA	106
Smedberg, J., et al.	2015	Europe (15 Eur- opean countries)	4295
Sockol, L.E., et al.	2014	USA	211
Srinivasan, N., et al.	2015	India	100
Stewart, R.C., et al.	2014	Malawi	583
Verreault, N., et al.	2014	Canada	364
Wagas, A., et al.	2015	Pakistan	500
Weobong, B., et al.	2014	Ghana	20,920
Westdahl, C., et al.	2007	USA	1047
Woods, S.M.	2010	USA	1522
Yanikkerem, E., et al.	2013	Turkey	651
Zayas, L.H., et al.	2003	USA	106
Zelkowitz, P., et al.	2004	Canada	119
Zeng, Y., et al.	2015	China	292

the strongest risk factors for depression (Lancaster et al., 2010; Verreault et al., 2014). Women with feelings of anxiety are at increased risk of suffering from depression during pregnancy (Edwards et al., 2008); for example, a recent study (Mohamad Yusuff et al., 2015) has found that women who had experienced antenatal anxiety were about three times more likely to suffer from depression during pregnancy.

A previous history of mental illness, in particular a history of anxiety and depression and a history of psychiatric treatment during a previous pregnancy or at any time during the lifetime, is also a well-established risk factor in the development of antenatal anxiety and depression (Akcal et al., 2014; Balestrieri et al., 2012; Bayrampour et al., 2015; Bowen et al., 2009; Bunevicius et al., 2009; Edwards et al., 2008; Faisal-Cury et al., 2009; Giardinelli et al., 2012; Jeong et al., 2013; Lydsdottir et al., 2014; Manikkam and Burns, 2012; Marchesi et al., 2014, 2009; Marcus et al., 2003; Martini et al., 2015; Nasreen et al., 2011; Redshaw and Henderson, 2013; Rich-Edwards et al., 2006; Rubertsson et al., 2014; Shakeel et al., 2015; Verreault et al., 2014). Many of these studies found that a history of previous anxiety or depression is the strongest risk factor for a new onset during the antenatal period. For example, one study (Marcus et al., 2003) found that almost half of the women depressed during pregnancy had a past history of major depressive disorder. In addition, another study (Andersson et al., 2006) found that absence of a previous psychiatric disorder was associated with a greater likelihood of recovery from antenatal anxiety and depression after the birth of the child. Nevertheless Raisanen et al. (2014) found that, despite a previous history of depression being the strongest risk factor for a new episode during pregnancy, half of the women depressed during pregnancy had never been depressed before. This suggests that it is not uncommon for the first episode of depression to occur during pregnancy.

Some studies have also found a significant correlation between antenatal anxiety and depression and past (Lee et al., 2007) or current (Marcus et al., 2003) use of alcohol. Studies have also shown that smoking before or during pregnancy predicts anxiety and depression during pregnancy, even if it is not always clear whether smoking increases the risk of depression or if it is depression that is associated with less healthy behaviours, such as smoking (Abuidhail and Abuiilban, 2014; Bottomley and Lancaster, 2008: Bowen et al., 2009: Lydsdottir et al., 2014: Marcus et al., 2003: Raisanen et al., 2014: Rubertsson et al., 2014). One recent research (Smedberg et al., 2015) found that women who continued to smoke during pregnancy were more likely to suffer from antenatal depression compared to the ones who quit smoking during pregnancy, with twice the prevalence of continuing smoking during pregnancy in women with depression than in healthy women. However, another study (Jeong et al., 2013) found that cigarette smoking increased the risk of antenatal depression even if women abstained from cigarette smoking during pregnancy. One study (Fellenzer and Cibula, 2014) found not only that smoking during pregnancy was associated with depression but also that a greater number of cigarettes per day was associated with higher levels of depression. Similarly, another study (Bottomley and Lancaster, 2008) found that there was a significant correlation between the number of cigarettes smoked during the 1st and 2nd trimesters and the depressive score on the EPDS in the 3rd trimester. However, one research found that smoking during pregnancy was not associated with antenatal depression (Luke et al., 2009). Substance use during pregnancy has also been found to be strongly associated with antenatal depression (Fellenzer and Cibula. 2014: Holzman et al., 2006).

The quality of attachment and a woman's relationship with her own parents is another important risk factor. For example, childhood abuse has been recognized as a clear risk factor for depression and anxiety specifically during pregnancy (Plant et al., 2013; Robertson-Blackmore et al., 2013), over and above the increased life-time risk for psychiatric disorders that childhood maltreatment carries (See section 3.4). However, despite considerable anecdotal clinical evidence, only a few studies have investigated the quality of parenting and attachment style in relation to depression and anxiety during the perinatal period. A study (Grant et al., 2012) found that the women reporting a style of parenting characterized by both low care and high control were six times more likely to have anxiety during pregnancy, and seven times more likely to have postnatal depression. Moreover, another study (Simpson et al., 2003) found that "highly ambivalent women", who also perceived their husband as less supportive and angrier, were more likely to experience depressive symptoms in the perinatal period.

The absence of a good caregiving experience makes it more challenging for the mother to cope with distressing feelings and difficult situations related to parenthood. We know from the literature that pregnant women go through a mental reorganization that allows the development of maternal identity. This process involves the elaboration and integration of mental representations of the unborn baby, of the woman as a mother, of non-maternal self-features and of other significant relationships (Ammaniti and Trentini, 2009). The nature and quality of these maternal representations are influenced by many factors, such as childhood experiences of being parented, actual relationship with the partner and the family, psychological state, and environmental risk factors (Lara-Carrasco et al., 2013). Among these factors, the quality of the childhood experiences of being parented, and especially the relationship with the mother figure, influences the

nature of these representations during pregnancy (Ammaniti and Trentini, 2009). In fact, many researchers have shown that, at the time of the transition to parenthood, unresolved and unprocessed issues are reactivated, and fantasies and revitalized memories related to the past are transferred to the new situation, potentially leading to distorted responses towards the baby after the birth (Raphael-Leff, 2010). To this end, one study (Jeong et al., 2013) found that past experience of insufficient emotional support from the mother (but not from the father) was an independent predictor of antenatal depression. This suggests that positive internalized experiences with her own mother may help the pregnant women in managing negative emotions during pregnancy and in building a healthy mother-baby relationship (leong et al., 2013). This evidence highlights the importance of assessing the quality of childhood parenting experiences and the presence of a history of abuse, because these factors both increase the likelihood that mothers may experience difficulties in developing optimal relationships with their babies.

A family history of psychiatric illness during the lifespan has been observed as another important risk factor for antenatal depression (Jeong et al., 2013; Lydsdottir et al., 2014). Nevertheless, this may sometimes be difficult to evaluate, because the woman may not be aware of mental problems that have affected relatives, or may be not willing to disclose this information (Robertson et al., 2004).

3.2. Social support and marital relationship risk factors

Lack of social support is another factor strongly associated with an increased risk of antenatal anxiety and depression. Social support is a multidimensional concept and includes informational support (information and advice), instrumental support (practical help) and emotional support (expression of caring and holding in esteem). The objective evaluation of the social support received may be challenging, because it has been noticed that depressed women tend to feel less supported than they objectively are (Robertson et al., 2004).

Many studies report perceived lack of partner support and of social support as important risk factors for antenatal anxiety and depression (Adewuya et al., 2007; Agostini et al., 2015; Bayrampour et al., 2015; Bowen and Muhajarine, 2006b; Bowen et al., 2009; Dibaba et al., 2013; Elsenbruch et al., 2007; Faisal-Cury et al., 2009; Ginsburg et al., 2008; Golbasi et al., 2010; Groves et al., 2012; Hartley et al., 2011; Jeong et al., 2013; Jesse et al., 2005; Leigh and Milgrom, 2008; Lydsdottir et al., 2014; Marchesi et al., 2014; Martini et al., 2015; Nasreen et al., 2011; Ratcliff et al., 2015; Records and Rice, 2007; Rich-Edwards et al., 2006; Rubertsson et al., 2003; Srinivasan et al., 2015; Stewart et al., 2014; Wagas et al., 2015; Westdahl et al., 2007; Yanikkerem et al., 2013; Zelkowitz et al., 2004) as well as social conflict (Westdahl et al., 2007). A study conducted with immigrants in Canada (Zelkowitz et al., 2004) demonstrated that women with scores of 12 or more on the EPDS reported less satisfaction with, and greater need for, social support. Also, they had fewer women, fewer relatives and fewer people from their own ethnic group in their networks.

Perceived support and marital satisfaction are protective factors against antenatal anxiety and depression (Lee et al., 2007; Zeng et al., 2015), while a problematic/conflictual or dissatisfied/ poor relationship with partner have been identified as risk factors for the onset of anxiety and depression during pregnancy (Giardinelli et al., 2012; Marchesi et al., 2009; Martini et al., 2015; Nasreen et al., 2011; Records and Rice, 2007; Srinivasan et al., 2015; Zelkowitz et al., 2004). Good instrumental and emotional support, provided first of all by the partner but also by the family and the social environment, is crucial for the mother-to-be. The presence of a supportive partner acts as a buffer against the difficulties experienced in the transition to parenthood, protecting maternal mental health (Bilszta et al., 2008). A problematic relationship with the partner, instead, causes an additional stress to the woman, making it harder for her to adjust to pregnancy and motherhood (Marchesi et al., 2009).

Other factors, such as marital status or length of relationship, may also influence the amount of support the new mother receives and could be considered to be risk factors for anxiety and depression during pregnancy. Some studies have identified that women experiencing depressive symptoms in the antenatal period are more likely to be not married, to be single or to have a partner not living in the same household (Adewuya et al., 2007; Brittain et al., 2015: Faisal-Curv and Rossi Menezes, 2007: Figueiredo et al., 2007; Jeong et al., 2013; Manikkam and Burns, 2012; Marcus et al., 2003; Melville et al., 2010; Mezey et al., 2005; Raisanen et al., 2014; Rich-Edwards et al., 2006; Rubertsson et al., 2003; Weobong et al., 2014). A study found higher level of depression in women living with friends or in a community compared to the ones cohabitating with a partner (Balestrieri et al., 2012). However, some researchers (Bilszta et al., 2008) have observed that the evidence that single mothers report higher levels of depressive symptoms during pregnancy than women with supportive partners may be explained by a previous history of depression, current emotional problems, previous abuse, level of daily hassles, maternal perception of the infant and income level. Interestingly, single mothers have lower levels of depressive symptoms compared to women with unsupportive partners (Bilszta et al., 2008). Likewise, a few studies did not find that marital status was always a significant predictor of antenatal depression and anxiety (Agostini et al., 2015; Glazier et al., 2004; Husain et al., 2012; Luke et al., 2009; Qiao et al., 2009). These findings highlight the importance of considering not only marital status but also the quality of the relationship. Given these results, we could conclude that being a single mother is in a way better than having a difficult and unsupportive relationship.

Surprisingly, no studies regarding the psychopathology of the partner as potential risk factor for antenatal depression and anxiety have been identified in this systematic review. Research has been conducted regarding the possible impact of partner psychopathology on maternal depressive symptoms in the first postpartum year (D'Anna-Hernandez et al., 2013), but no study has been found in relation to the antenatal period. One meta-analysis (Paulson and Bazemore, 2010) has found a positive and moderate in size correlation between maternal and paternal depression in the perinatal period (from the 1st trimester until the 1st year of the baby) but a direction of causal influence had not been reported in the studies included in the meta-analysis.

3.3. Socio-demographic and economic risk factors

Studies have examined many socio-demographic and economic risk factors in relation to antenatal anxiety and depression, but the results are equivocal.

Many studies have found a significant correlation between young age and depression/anxiety during pregnancy (Bodecs et al., 2013; Fellenzer and Cibula, 2014; Glazier et al., 2004; Hartley et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2007; Martini et al., 2015; Qiao et al., 2009; Rich-Edwards et al., 2006; Rubertsson et al., 2014, 2003). Perhaps unsurprisingly, adolescents are at increased risk of become depressed during pregnancy (Figueiredo et al., 2007; Lanzi et al., 2009; Raisanen et al., 2014). This confirms what has been found in a systematic review about adolescence and mental health during pregnancy (Siegel and Brandon, 2014). Nevertheless, some studies found that an older age was positively associated with depression scores during pregnancy (Ali et al., 2012; Faisal-Cury et al., 2009; Fisher et al., 2013; Gavin et al., 2011; Golbasi et al., 2010; Luke et al., 2009; Nasreen et al., 2011; Raisanen et al., 2014; Weobong et al., 2014; Yanikkerem et al., 2013) and other studies found that age was not associated with depression or anxiety during pregnancy (Abuidhail and Abujilban, 2014; Agostini et al., 2015; Balestrieri et al., 2012; Faisal-Cury and Rossi Menezes, 2007; Husain et al., 2012, 2011; Karmaliani et al., 2009; Marcus et al., 2003; Ratcliff et al., 2015; Srinivasan et al., 2015).

Antenatal depression and anxiety also seem more common in women with low educational achievements (Abuidhail and Abujilban, 2014; Abujilban et al., 2014; Bodecs et al., 2013; Bunevicius et al., 2009: Dmitrovic et al., 2014: Faisal-Curv and Rossi Menezes. 2007: Fellenzer and Cibula. 2014: Gavin et al., 2011: Glazier et al., 2004: Husain et al., 2011: Jeong et al., 2013: Lydsdottir et al., 2014: Marcus et al., 2003; Martini et al., 2015; Qiao et al., 2009; Yanikkerem et al., 2013). In particular, one study conducted in Bangladesh (Nasreen et al., 2011) found that antenatal anxiety was inversely associated with "literacy". Nevertheless, two studies conducted in Malawi (Stewart et al., 2014) and Pakistan (Karmaliani et al., 2009) found that women with "more years of schooling" were more likely to experiences symptoms of anxiety and depression. A few studies did not find education to be a significant predictor of antenatal depression (Agostini et al., 2015; Husain et al., 2012; Lanzi et al., 2009; Luke et al., 2009; Ratcliff et al., 2015; Srinivasan et al., 2015; Zelkowitz et al., 2004).

Antenatal anxiety and depression have also been found to be more prevalent in unemployed women (Bodecs et al., 2013; Dibaba et al., 2013; Faisal-Cury et al., 2009; Giardinelli et al., 2012; Lydsdottir et al., 2014; Marcus et al., 2003; Rubertsson et al., 2014, 2003) and housewives (Balestrieri et al., 2012; Marchesi et al., 2009; Yanikkerem et al., 2013), compared with employed women, even if a few studies did not find any significant association between employment and antenatal depression (Agostini et al., 2015: Glazier et al., 2004: Husain et al., 2011: Karmaliani et al., 2009; Lanzi et al., 2009; Zelkowitz et al., 2004). One study (Cooklin et al., 2007) analysed the role of workplace adversity on maternal wellbeing during pregnancy. It found that poor working conditions, in terms of discrimination and lack of key entitlements during pregnancy, are associated with higher levels of depression. Moreover, women whose partners were unemployed seem to be more likely to experience antenatal depression (Akcal et al., 2014; Husain et al., 2011; Karmaliani et al., 2009; Srinivasan et al., 2015).

Studies that have examined the association with low income and financial hardships have also reported contradictory results. While some studies (Bodecs et al., 2013; Faisal-Cury and Rossi Menezes, 2007; Fisher et al., 2013, 2010; Glazier et al., 2004; Hartley et al., 2011; Holzman et al., 2006; Husain et al., 2011; Jeong et al., 2013; Leigh and Milgrom, 2008; Lydsdottir et al., 2014; Prady et al., 2013; Rich-Edwards et al., 2006; Weobong et al., 2014; Zeng et al., 2015) found low income or financial difficulties to be relevant factors, others (Abuidhail and Abujilban, 2014; Josefsson et al., 2002; Srinivasan et al., 2015) did not find any significant correlation.

Ethnicity and, in particular, belonging to a minority ethnic group, are other potential risk factors highlighted by some studies, even if the results are also contradictory. The prevalence of antenatal depression seems higher in Black, Latina and Asian mothers compared to White mothers (Faisal-Cury and Rossi Menezes, 2007; Fellenzer and Cibula, 2014; Gavin et al., 2011; Melville et al., 2010; Redshaw and Henderson, 2013; Shakeel et al., 2015; Verreault et al., 2014), but other studies do not show any significant difference (Canady et al., 2008; Jesse et al., 2005; Marcus et al., 2003) and others show higher levels of depression among White mothers compared to Black and Hispanic mothers as well as women of other ethnicities (Shen et al., 2010). Belonging to a minority group could be a risk factor for antenatal depression because of the increased level of stress due to discrimination (Prady et al., 2013). However, research in the United Kingdom has shown that some minority groups may have lower levels of mental illness than the majority population (Edge, 2007). Specifically, in this study Black Caribbean mothers, despite belonging to a minority ethnic group, living in more deprived areas and being more likely to be lone mothers and to receive less support from their partners, did not show higher levels of depression during pregnancy and the postpartum period, and did not receive more treatment for perinatal depression, compared with White British mothers (Edge, 2007). It is possible that social risk factors may have a different impact on the mental health of Black Caribbean and White women, as the prolonged and repeated exposure to adversity might have provided the Black Caribbean women with greater resilience and skills to manage psychological distress (Edge, 2007; Williams and Healy, 2001; Williams et al., 1997). This may also be explained by the higher levels of resources (social support, spirituality and self-esteem) in Black mothers than in White mothers (Jesse et al., 2005). These resources may act as a buffer against potential sources of risk and reduce the incidence of depression (Jesse et al., 2005; Prady et al., 2013). Therefore, being part of a minority ethnic group may not be an independent factor in the relation to depressive symptoms, and the substantial risk in minority ethnic groups found in some studies may be the result of a higher prevalence of other risk factors. To this end, a study found that the higher prevalence of depression among Black and Hispanic mothers was mainly explained by lower income and financial hardship (Rich-Edwards et al., 2006). Another study found that financial concerns are significantly associated with mental health difficulties during pregnancy, rather than belonging to a specific ethnic group (Prady et al., 2013).

3.4. Adverse events in life and perceived stress

Many studies have shown that adverse events in life and high perceived stress during pregnancy play an important role in the onset of antenatal depression (Abujilban et al., 2014; Bayrampour et al., 2015; Bowen et al., 2009; Brittain et al., 2015; Bunevicius et al., 2009; Fisher et al., 2013;, 2010, Gavin et al., 2011; Glazier et al., 2004; Holzman et al., 2006; Husain et al., 2012; Jesse et al., 2005; Leigh and Milgrom, 2008; Melville et al., 2010; Ratcliff et al., 2015; Rubertsson et al., 2003; Shakeel et al., 2015; Verreault et al., 2014; Woods et al., 2010; Zayas et al., 2003; Zelkowitz et al., 2004). Stressful experiences may vary from mild to severe, also depending on stress perception and the ability to cope; nevertheless, highly stressful experiences, such as the death or illness of a relative, a relationship breakdown, losing a job, moving home, being assaulted or raped, can trigger depressive and anxiety symptoms or disorders in most individuals. Pregnancy is in itself a well-recognized time of stress because of the many obvious and potential changes and challenges. The occurrence of one or more stressful events can then lead to an increase in the probability that mothers and fathers experience psychological difficulties or mental health disorders. To this end, a study has highlighted the important role of social support in reducing the negative impact of adverse events in life: they have shown that women who experience stressful life events but have good social support are less likely to suffer from emotional distress compared with women without an available support network (Glazier et al., 2004). Therefore, the impact of adverse events in life on antenatal mental health may be mediated by social support. This sustains the "stress buffering hypothesis", where supportive interactions among people protect them against the negative health consequences of stressful life events (Cobb, 1976; Cohen and Wills, 1985). Nevertheless, in one study (Groves et al., 2012) social support did not attenuate the effects of partner violence on woman's mental health during pregnancy.

Within adverse events in life, being exposed to intrusive life events, such as domestic violence or emotional, physical or sexual

abuse, has a considerable impact on a mother's mental health in the perinatal period. A number of studies have found that having been exposed to domestic violence before or during pregnancy (particularly if perpetrated by the partner), having a history of abuse, or having experienced a sexual assault, are all risk factors for the development of antenatal anxiety, depression and posttraumatic stress symptoms (Akcal et al., 2014; Ali et al., 2012; Brittain et al., 2015; Dibaba et al., 2013; Edwards et al., 2008; Fisher et al., 2013, 2010; Fonseca-Machado Mde et al., 2015; Gavin et al., 2011; Groves et al., 2012; Hartley et al., 2011; Holzman et al., 2006: Jesse et al., 2005: Karmaliani et al., 2009: Leigh and Milgrom. 2008: Lvdsdottir et al., 2014: Mahenge et al., 2013: Martini et al., 2015: Melville et al., 2010: Mezev et al., 2005: Miszkurka et al., 2012; Nasreen et al., 2011; Rich-Edwards et al., 2011; Rodriguez et al., 2008; Stewart et al., 2014; Verreault et al., 2014; Waqas et al., 2015). In particular, a study found that having been exposed to a traumatic sexual experience is associated with antenatal anxiety but not depression (Martini et al., 2015). Another study found that women who are exposed to physical assault or sexual coercion by their intimate partners before or during pregnancy have higher levels of depressive symptoms during pregnancy (Martin et al., 2006).

We know from the literature that women with a history of abuse often experience more than one traumatic event during their lives, and have higher life-time levels of depressive and posttraumatic symptoms than women who have only suffered a single trauma. Indeed, one study (Holzman et al., 2006) found a marked increase in depressive scores when adverse circumstances were present both in childhood and in adulthood. This is in line with the theory that accumulation of adversity is more damaging than single events (Holzman et al., 2006). As such, women who have been sexually abused as children are at significant risk of experiencing abuse as adults, including domestic violence (Mezev et al., 2005). In fact, childhood abuse has been identified as a particularly strong predictor of depression and anxiety during the antenatal period (Brittain et al., 2015; Fisher et al., 2013; Groves et al., 2012; Jeong et al., 2013; Mezey et al., 2005; Plant et al., 2013; Robertson-Blackmore et al., 2013; Seng et al., 2014), with women with a history of childhood sexual abuse being twice as likely to develop antenatal depression (Robertson-Blackmore et al., 2013). Moreover, the relationship between childhood maltreatment and antenatal depression remains true even when accounting for a woman's antisocial characteristics, personal history of psychiatric illness outside pregnancy, and the availability of partner support during pregnancy, all of which have been identified as salient factors associated with maternal psychopathology (Plant et al., 2013).

3.5. Obstetric and pregnancy-related risk factors

Many studies have found an increased risk of developing antenatal depression and anxiety in women with an unplanned or unwanted pregnancy (Ajinkya et al., 2013; Akcal et al., 2014; Bayrampour et al., 2015; Brittain et al., 2015; Bunevicius et al., 2009; Dibaba et al., 2013; Fellenzer and Cibula, 2014; Giardinelli et al., 2012; Golbasi et al., 2010; Jeong et al., 2013; Karmaliani et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2007; Manikkam and Burns, 2012; Marchesi et al., 2009; Martini et al., 2015; Mohamad Yusuff et al., 2015; Mohammad et al., 2011; Redshaw and Henderson, 2013; Rich-Edwards et al., 2006; Waqas et al., 2015; Weobong et al., 2014; Yanikkerem et al., 2013), although two studies did not find this (Groves et al., 2012; Hartley et al., 2011). Two studies (Lee et al., 2007; Marchesi et al., 2009) observed that an unwanted pregnancy was a significant predictor of depression only in the first trimester, with less importance over time. Some researchers (Lee et al., 2007) suggested that women initially find it more difficult to cope with

an unexpected and undesired event and, therefore, are more likely to become depressed; however, as the pregnancy progresses, the shock reduces, and the relationship with the foetus grows stronger, the pregnancy becomes more accepted and the depressive symptoms decrease. Of note is also that fear of childbirth and negative thoughts about the upcoming delivery have been associated with increased risk of antenatal anxiety and depression (Raisanen et al., 2014; Rubertsson et al., 2014); indeed, a study found that a negative experience of pregnancy was significantly associated with antenatal depression (Agostini et al., 2015).

The role of parity in increasing the risk of antenatal depression and anxiety is not clear. Multiparous women are at increased risk of developing antenatal anxiety and depression according to some studies (Abuidhail and Abujilban, 2014; Golbasi et al., 2010; Lanzi et al., 2009; Redshaw and Henderson, 2013; Yanikkerem et al., 2013) while other studies (Ali et al., 2012; Fisher et al., 2013; Raisanen et al., 2014) found nulliparous or primiparous women as more at risk than multiparous women, and others yet did not find any significant association between parity and antenatal mental health (Abujilban et al., 2014; Dibaba et al., 2013; Faisal-Cury and Rossi Menezes, 2007; Fisher et al., 2010; Glazier et al., 2004; Husain et al., 2011; Marcus et al., 2003; Ratcliff et al., 2015; Rubertsson et al., 2003; Zelkowitz et al., 2004). Greater number of previous pregnancies (multigravida) has been found to be a predictor of antenatal depression in a few studies (Ajinkya et al., 2013; Records and Rice, 2007) while another study found that women in their first pregnancy (primigravida) were more likely to suffer from depression (Karmaliani et al., 2009), and other studies (Fisher et al., 2010; Srinivasan et al., 2015) did not find gravidity to be associated with antenatal depression.

Women with current or past pregnancy/delivery complications, with a history of pregnancy loss, pregnancy terminations or stillbirth have been found to be more likely to experience antenatal depression, anxiety and pregnancy-specific anxieties (Adewuya et al., 2007; Ajinkya et al., 2013; Ali et al., 2012; Armstrong, 2004; Chojenta et al., 2014; Faisal-Cury et al., 2009; Faisal-Cury and Rossi Menezes, 2007; Fisher et al., 2013; Golbasi et al., 2010; Gong et al., 2013; Husain et al., 2011; Raisanen et al., 2014; Stewart et al., 2014; Waqas et al., 2015; Weobong et al., 2014; Zeng et al., 2015). In particular, one study (Bergner et al., 2008) found that women with a history of miscarriage suffer more from trait anxiety and pregnancy-specific anxieties, and those who have had recurrent miscarriages also have higher levels of anxiety. However, some studies (Bicking Kinsey et al., 2015; Fisher et al., 2010; Jeong et al., 2013; Qiao et al., 2009) did not find any significant association between previous obstetric history, including a history of either spontaneous or induced abortion, and antenatal anxiety or depression. A history of one or more episiotomies, caesarean section or a previous negative birth experience, have been found to be associated with a high incidence of antenatal anxiety and depression (Rubertsson et al., 2003; Wagas et al., 2015), but another study found no association between "mode of delivery" and antenatal depression (Ajinkya et al., 2013). In one study, women who had infertility treatments were more likely to suffer from antenatal anxiety (Bayrampour et al., 2015), but another study did not find this (Rubertsson et al., 2003).

An unexpected loss of pregnancy can be a traumatic event and can lead to high level of anxiety and depression that can persist into subsequent pregnancies. One study found previous miscarriage to be associated with antenatal depression but no significant association was found with stillbirth (Rubertsson et al., 2003). The interval between a pregnancy that did not result in a live birth and a new pregnancy seems to play a crucial role in whether the woman will or will not experience anxiety and depression during a new pregnancy: the World Health Organization recommends an interval of at least 6 months to allow women time to recover physically and mentally (WHO, 2005). To this end, Gong et al. found that women with a history of miscarriage and interpregnancy interval of less than 6 months are at increased risk of developing anxiety and depression during the first trimester of pregnancy (Gong et al., 2013).

3.6. Personality risk factors

Some studies have shown that some personality factors increase the risk of experiencing psychological difficulties in the antenatal period, and especially negative cognitive styles: pessimism, anger and rumination; a tendency to be nervous, worried or shy; low self-esteem and low self-efficacy; and high levels of neuroticism or psychoticism (Bayrampour et al., 2015; Bunevicius et al., 2009; Ginsburg et al., 2008; Jesse et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2007; Leigh and Milgrom, 2008; Martini et al., 2015; Mohammad et al., 2011; Zeng et al., 2015). On the contrary, active coping and high self-esteem/self-efficacy have been identified as protective factors (Edwards et al., 2008; Zeng et al., 2015).

While more research has been conducted regarding general cognitive biases in relation to depression and anxiety, some studies have also pointed out that specific types of cognitive biases have an impact in the perinatal period. A study (Sockol et al., 2014) has found that maternal attitudes regarding motherhood have incremental predictive validity for symptoms of depression and anxiety during the perinatal period over more general cognitive biases. Moreover, maternal attitudes towards motherhood continue to be strongly associated with anxiety and depression even after controlling for interpersonal factors. Examples of maladaptive beliefs about motherhood are: It is wrong to have mixed feelings about my baby; I should feel more devoted to my baby; it is wrong to feel disappointed by motherhood; if my baby is crying, people will think I cannot care for him/ her properly. As such, women with maladaptive beliefs about motherhood are at increased risk of experiencing feelings of sadness, guilt and worthlessness, and to develop anxiety and depression during pregnancy and in the postpartum period, when their feelings do not match their attitudes and expectations. This means that specific beliefs about motherhood could be most strongly activated by the particular stressors of parenting and, therefore, they could mediate the relationship between the specific stressors of becoming a parent and the emotional response to these events (Sockol et al., 2014).

4. Discussion

In this systematic review, psycho-social, environmental, obstetric and pregnancy-related risk factors for antenatal depression and anxiety have been investigated. Table 1 shows all the studies that have been included and discussed in this systematic review, while Table 2 shows all the main risk factors that have been found to be associated with antenatal depression and anxiety. Depression and anxiety have been found to be highly comorbid during the antenatal period, and indeed high anxiety during pregnancy is a risk factor for antenatal depression (Verreault et al., 2014); therefore, most of the risk factors identified here are relevant to both conditions.

The most relevant factors associated with antenatal depression or anxiety (ranked according to the number of studies that have found the factors to be significant predictors, and presenting also the number of studies who did not) are: lack of partner or of social support (29 vs. 0); history of abuse or of domestic violence (28 vs. 0); personal history of mental illness (23 vs. 0); unplanned or unwanted pregnancy (22 vs. 2); adverse events in life and high perceived stress (21 vs. 0); present/ past pregnancy complications or pregnancy loss (17 vs. 4); low education level (17 vs. 9); low

Table 2

Studies that found particular risk factors to be significant for anxiety and depression during pregnancy, in chronological order.

Psychological-psychiatric factors							
Personal history of mental illness/psychiatric treatment	Marcus et al. (2003) Nasreen et al. (2011)	Rich-Edwards et al. (2006) Balestrieri et al.	Edwards et al. (2008) Giardinelli et al. (2012)	Bowen et al. (2009) Manikkam and Burns	Bunevicius et al. (2009) Jeong et al. (2013)	Faisal-Cury et al. (2009) Redshaw and Hender-	Marchesi et al. (2009) Akcal et al. (2014)
	Marchesi et al. (2014)	(2012) Rubertsson et al.	Verreault et al. (2014)	(2012) Lydsdottir et al. (2014)	Raisanen et al.	son (2013) Martini et al. (2015)	Shakeel et al. (2015)
	Bayrampour et al. (2015)	(2014)			(2014)		
Current/past alcohol use	Marcus et al. (2003)	Lee et al. (2007)					
Current/past smoking	Marcus et al. (2003)	Bottomley and Lancaster (2008)	Bowen et al. (2009)	Jeong et al. (2013)	Abuidhail and Abujilban (2014)	Raisanen et al. (2014)	Fellenzer and Cibula (2014)
	Rubertsson et al. (2014)	Lydsdottir et al. (2014)	Smedberg et al. (2015)				
Current substance use during pregnancy	Holzman et al. (2006)	Fellenzer and Ci- bula (2014)					
Childhood abuse	Mezey et al. (2005)	Groves et al. (2012)	Fisher et al. (2013)	Robertson-Blackmore et al. (2013)	Plant et al. (2013)	Jeong et al. (2013)	Seng et al. (2014)
	Brittain et al. (2015)			, , ,			
Quality/style of parenting during childhood	Simpson et al. (2003)	Grant et al. (2012)	Jeong et al. (2013)				
Family history of psychiatric illness	Jeong et al. (2013)	Lydsdottir et al. (2014)					
Social support & marital relationship factors							
Lack of partner/social support	Rubertsson et al. (2003)	Zelkowitz et al. (2004)	Jesse et al. (2005)	Bowen and Muhajarine (2006a, 2006b)	Rich-Edwards et al. (2006)	Adewuya et al. (2007)	Elsenbruch et al. (2007)
	Records and Rice	Westdahl et al.	Ginsburg et al. (2008)	Leigh and Milgrom	Bowen et al.	Faisal-Cury et al.	Golbasi et al. (2010)
	Hartley et al. (2011)	Nasreen et al.	Groves et al. (2012)	Dibaba et al. (2013)	Jeong et al. (2013)	Yanikkerem et al.	Lydsdottir et al.
	Marchesi et al. (2014)	Stewart et al.	Agostini et al. (2015)	Bayrampour et al.	Martini et al.	Ratcliff et al. (2015)	Srinivasan et al.
	Waqas et al. (2015)	(2014)		(2013)	(2013)		(2013)
Social conflict	Westdahl et al. (2007)						
Problematic/dissatisfied relationship	Zelkowitz et al. (2004)	Records and Rice (2007)	Marchesi et al. (2009)	Nasreen et al. (2011)	Giardinelli et al. (2012)	Martini et al. (2015)	Srinivasan et al. (2015)
History of abuse/domestic violence	Jesse et al. (2005)	Mezey et al. (2005)	Holzman et al. (2006)	Martin et al. (2006)	Edwards et al. (2008)	Leigh and Milgrom (2008)	Rodriguez et al. (2008)
	Karmaliani et al. (2009)	Fisher et al. (2010)	Melville et al. (2010)	Gavin et al. (2011)	Hartley et al.	Nasreen et al. (2011)	Rich-Edwards et al.
	Ali et al. (2012)	Groves et al. (2012)	Miszkurka et al. (2012)	Dibaba et al. (2013)	Fisher et al. (2013)	Mahenge et al. (2013)	Akcal et al. (2014)

	Lydsdottir et al. (2014)	Stewart et al. (2014)	Verreault et al. (2014)	Waqas et al. (2015)	Martini et al. (2015)	Brittain et al. (2015)	Fonseca-Machado Mde et al. (2015)
Single mother/partner non living in the house	Marcus et al. (2003)	Rubertsson et al. (2003)	Mezey et al. (2005)	Rich-Edwards et al. (2006)	Adewuya et al. (2007)	Faisal-Cury and Rossi Menezes (2007)	Figueiredo et al. (2007)
	Melville et al. (2010)	Balestrieri et al. (2012)	Manikkam and Burns (2012)	Jeong et al. (2013)	Raisanen et al. (2014)	Weobong et al. (2014)	Brittain et al. (2015)
Socio-demographic & economic factors							
Young age	Rubertsson et al. (2003)	Glazier et al. (2004)	Rich-Edwards et al. (2006)	Figueiredo et al. (2007)	Lee et al. (2007)	Lanzi et al. (2009)	Qiao et al. (2009)
	Hartley et al. (2011)	Bodecs et al. (2013)	Fellenzer and Cibula (2014)	Raisanen et al. (2014)	Rubertsson et al. (2014)	Martini et al. (2015)	
Older age	Faisal-Cury et al. (2009)	Luke et al. (2009)	Golbasi et al. (2010)	Gavin et al. (2011)	Nasreen et al. (2011)	Ali et al. (2012)	Fisher et al. (2013)
	Yanikkerem et al. (2013)	Raisanen et al. (2014)	Weobong et al. (2014)				
Low education level	Marcus et al. (2003)	Glazier et al. (2004)	Faisal-Cury and Rossi Menezes (2007)	Bunevicius et al. (2009)	Qiao et al. (2009)	Gavin et al. (2011)	Husain et al. (2011)
	Nasreen et al. (2011)	Bodecs et al. (2013)	Jeong et al. (2013)	Yanikkerem et al. (2013)	Abujilban et al. (2014)	Abuidhail and Abu- iilban (2014)	Dmitrovic et al. (2014)
	Fellenzer and Cibula (2014)	Lydsdottir et al. (2014)	Martini et al. (2015)				
Higher education level	Karmaliani et al. (2009)	Stewart et al. (2014)					
Higher education level Unemployment	Karmaliani et al. (2009) Marcus et al. (2003)	Stewart et al. (2014) Rubertsson et al.	Faisal-Cury et al.	Giardinelli et al. (2012)	Bodecs et al. (2013)	Dibaba et al. (2013)	Lydsdottir et al.
Higher education level Unemployment	Karmaliani et al. (2009) Marcus et al. (2003) Rubertsson et al. (2014)	Stewart et al. (2014) Rubertsson et al. (2003)	Faisal-Cury et al. (2009)	Giardinelli et al. (2012)	Bodecs et al. (2013)	Dibaba et al. (2013)	Lydsdottir et al. (2014)
Higher education level Unemployment Housewife status	Karmaliani et al. (2009) Marcus et al. (2003) Rubertsson et al. (2014) Marchesi et al. (2009)	Stewart et al. (2014) Rubertsson et al. (2003) Balestrieri et al. (2012)	Faisal-Cury et al. (2009) Yanikkerem et al. (2013)	Giardinelli et al. (2012)	Bodecs et al. (2013)	Dibaba et al. (2013)	Lydsdottir et al. (2014)
Higher education level Unemployment Housewife status Workplace adversity	Karmaliani et al. (2009) Marcus et al. (2003) Rubertsson et al. (2014) Marchesi et al. (2009) Cooklin et al. (2007)	Stewart et al. (2014) Rubertsson et al. (2003) Balestrieri et al. (2012)	Faisal-Cury et al. (2009) Yanikkerem et al. (2013)	Giardinelli et al. (2012)	Bodecs et al. (2013)	Dibaba et al. (2013)	Lydsdottir et al. (2014)
Higher education level Unemployment Housewife status Workplace adversity Partner unemployment	Karmaliani et al. (2009) Marcus et al. (2003) Rubertsson et al. (2014) Marchesi et al. (2009) Cooklin et al. (2007) Karmaliani et al. (2009)	Stewart et al. (2014) Rubertsson et al. (2003) Balestrieri et al. (2012) Husain et al. (2011)	Faisal-Cury et al. (2009) Yanikkerem et al. (2013) Akcal et al. (2014)	Giardinelli et al. (2012) Srinivasan et al. (2015)	Bodecs et al. (2013)	Dibaba et al. (2013)	Lydsdottir et al. (2014)
Higher education level Unemployment Housewife status Workplace adversity Partner unemployment Black/Latina/Asian ethnic group	Karmaliani et al. (2009) Marcus et al. (2003) Rubertsson et al. (2014) Marchesi et al. (2009) Cooklin et al. (2007) Karmaliani et al. (2009) Faisal-Cury and Rossi	Stewart et al. (2014) Rubertsson et al. (2003) Balestrieri et al. (2012) Husain et al. (2011) Melville et al. (2010)	Faisal-Cury et al. (2009) Yanikkerem et al. (2013) Akcal et al. (2014) Gavin et al. (2011)	Giardinelli et al. (2012) Srinivasan et al. (2015) Redshaw and Hender- son (2013)	Bodecs et al. (2013) Fellenzer and Ci- bula (2014)	Dibaba et al. (2013) Verreault et al. (2014)	Lydsdottir et al. (2014) Shakeel et al. (2015)
Higher education level Unemployment Housewife status Workplace adversity Partner unemployment Black/Latina/Asian ethnic group Low income/financial hardships	Karmaliani et al. (2009) Marcus et al. (2003) Rubertsson et al. (2014) Marchesi et al. (2009) Cooklin et al. (2007) Karmaliani et al. (2009) Faisal-Cury and Rossi Glazier et al. (2004)	Stewart et al. (2014) Rubertsson et al. (2003) Balestrieri et al. (2012) Husain et al. (2011) Melville et al. (2010)	Faisal-Cury et al. (2009) Yanikkerem et al. (2013) Akcal et al. (2014) Gavin et al. (2011) Rich-Edwards et al.	Giardinelli et al. (2012) Srinivasan et al. (2015) Redshaw and Hender- son (2013) Faisal-Cury and Rossi	Bodecs et al. (2013) Fellenzer and Ci- bula (2014) Leigh and Milgrom	Dibaba et al. (2013) Verreault et al. (2014) Fisher et al. (2010)	Lydsdottir et al. (2014) Shakeel et al. (2015) Hartley et al. (2011)
Higher education level Unemployment Housewife status Workplace adversity Partner unemployment Black/Latina/Asian ethnic group Low income/financial hardships	Karmaliani et al. (2009)Marcus et al. (2003)Rubertsson et al. (2014)Marchesi et al. (2009)Cooklin et al. (2007)Karmaliani et al. (2009)Faisal-Cury and Rossi Menezes (2007)Glazier et al. (2004) Husain et al. (2011)	Stewart et al. (2014) Rubertsson et al. (2003) Balestrieri et al. (2012) Husain et al. (2011) Melville et al. (2010) Holzman et al. (2006) Bodecs et al. (2013)	Faisal-Cury et al. (2009) Yanikkerem et al. (2013) Akcal et al. (2014) Gavin et al. (2011) Rich-Edwards et al. (2006) Fisher et al. (2013)	Giardinelli et al. (2012) Giardinelli et al. (2012) Srinivasan et al. (2015) Redshaw and Hender- son (2013) Faisal-Cury and Rossi Menezes (2007) Prady et al. (2013)	Bodecs et al. (2013) Fellenzer and Ci- bula (2014) Leigh and Milgrom (2008) Jeong et al. (2013)	Dibaba et al. (2013) Verreault et al. (2014) Fisher et al. (2010) Lydsdottir et al. (2014)	Lydsdottir et al. (2014) Shakeel et al. (2015) Hartley et al. (2011) Weobong et al.

Fable 2 (continued) Adverse events in life and perceived stress							
Adverse events in life and perceived stress	Rubertsson et al. (2003)	Zayas et al. (2003)	Glazier et al. (2004)	Zelkowitz et al. (2004)	Jesse et al. (2005)	Holzman et al. (2006)	Leigh and Milgrom (2008)
	Bowen et al. (2009)	Bunevicius et al.	Fisher et al. (2010)	Melville et al. (2010)	Woods et al. (2010)	Husain et al. (2012)	Fisher et al. (2013)
	Gavin et al. (2011)	(2003) Abujilban et al. (2014)	Verreault et al. (2014)	Bayrampour et al. (2015)	Brittain et al. (2015)	Ratcliff et al. (2015)	Shakeel et al. (2015)
Obstetric and pregnancy related factors							
Unplanned/unwanted pregnancy	Rich-Edwards et al. (2006)	Lee et al. (2007)	Bunevicius et al. (2009)	Marchesi et al. (2009)	Karmaliani et al. (2009)	Golbasi et al. (2010)	Mohammad et al. (2011)
	Manikkam and Burns (2012)	Giardinelli et al. (2012)	Ajinkya et al. (2013)	Dibaba et al. (2013)	Jeong et al. (2013)	Redshaw and Hender- son (2013)	Yanikkerem et al. (2013)
	Fellenzer and Cibula (2014) Bayrampour et al. (2015)	Akcal et al. (2014)	Weobong et al. (2014)	Waqas et al. (2015)	Martini et al. (2015)	Brittain et al (2015)	Mohamad Yusuff et al. (2015)
Multiparity	Lanzi et al. (2009)	Golbasi et al. (2010)	Yanikkerem et al. (2013)	Redshaw and Hender- son (2013)	Abuidhail and Abujilban (2014)		
Primiparity/nulliparity	Ali et al. (2012)	Fisher et al. (2013)	Raisanen et al. (2014)				
Primigravida	Karmaliani et al. (2009)						
Multigravida	Records and Rice (2007)	Ajinkya et al. (2013)					
History/occurrence of pregnancy complications/	Rubertsson et al.	Armstrong (2004)	Adewuya et al. (2007)	Faisal-Cury and Rossi	Bergner et al.	Faisal-Cury et al.	Golbasi et al. (2010)
pregnancy 1055	Husain et al. (2011)	Ali et al. (2012)	Ajinkya et al. (2013)	Fisher et al. (2013)	Gong et al. (2013)	(2003) Chojenta et al. (2014)	Raisanen et al.
	Stewart et al. (2014)	Weobong et al. (2014)	Waqas et al. (2015)	Zeng et al. (2015)			(2014)
History of episiotomies/caesarean section/negative	Rubertsson et al.	Waqas et al. (2015)	Agostini et al. (2015)	Bayrampour et al.			
Fear of childbirth	Raisanen et al. (2014)	Rubertsson et al. (2014)		(2013)			
Personality factors							
Negative cognitive style/self-efficacy/self-esteem	Jesse et al. (2005)	Lee et al. (2007)	Ginsburg et al. (2008)	Leigh and Milgrom	Bunevicius et al.	Mohammad et al.	Sockol et al. (2014)
	Martini et al. (2015)	Bayrampour et al. (2015)	Zeng et al. (2015)	(2000)	(2003)	(2011)	

income (15 vs. 3); single marital status (14 vs. 5); current or past smoking (11 vs. 1); negative cognitive style/low self-esteem and self-efficacy (10 vs. 0); problematic/dissatisfied relationship with partner (7 vs. 0); and childhood abuse (8 vs. 0). Inconsistent results have been found regarding unemployment (11 vs. 6) and Black, Asian and Latina ethnic group (7 vs. 4). Also, 13 papers found young age to be significant associated with antenatal depression and anxiety, while 10 studies found old age to be a significant risk factor, and 10 studies did not find any association with age. Moreover, 5 studies found multiparous women to be more at risk of antenatal depression/anxiety. 3 studies found nulliparous and primiparous to be more at risk, and 10 studies did not find any association with parity. Similar to parity, 2 papers have found women with multiple pregnancies to be more likely to suffer from depression or anxiety during pregnancy, 1 paper found women at their first pregnancy to be more at risk, and 2 papers did not find any association with gravidity. Studies included in this systematic review have also shown the following risk factors to be associated with antenatal anxiety and depression but further studies are needed as only little research has been conducted: current/past alcohol abuse (2 vs. 0), substance use (2 vs. 0), family history of mental illness (2 vs. 0), quality/style of parenting, (3 vs. 0), mode of delivery (2 vs. 1), partner unemployed (4 vs. 0).

Surprisingly, no studies regarding the psychopathology of the partner as potential risk factor for antenatal depression and anxiety have been identified in this systematic review. Only one meta-analysis (Paulson and Bazemore, 2010) has found a positive and moderate in size correlation between maternal and paternal depression in the perinatal period, including pregnancy. Clearly, more research is needed to explore the role of partner psychopathology in the onset of antenatal depression and anxiety. In fact, 29 studies have found lack of support, especially partner support. to be associated with antenatal depression and anxiety, with no studies reporting an absence of significant association. In turn, perceived support and marital satisfaction have been found to be protective factors for maternal mental health during pregnancy (Lee et al., 2007; Zeng et al., 2015) and to mediate the impact of adverse events in life on maternal wellbeing (Glazier et al., 2004). This is not surprising, since social support can help the woman to cope with negative emotions and stressors associated with pregnancy and to prepare positively for the birth and the postpartum period (leong et al., 2013).

On the contrary, domestic violence and history of abuse have been shown to be some of the strongest independent predictors of antenatal depression and anxiety (Dibaba et al., 2013; Lancaster et al., 2010; Melville et al., 2010). In fact, 28 studies have found domestic violence and history of abuse as significant risk factors for depression and anxiety, and 8 studies have specifically investigated the role of childhood abuse and all found it to be highly associated. These results confirm and extend what has been reported in a recent systematic review on domestic violence and perinatal mental disorders (Howard et al., 2013); they found that women with probable depression during pregnancy had a 3-to-5fold increased risk of having experienced domestic violence over the adult lifetime, during the past year and during pregnancy. The results suggest a two-way association between domestic violence and antenatal depression: domestic violence is associated with depression during pregnancy while, at the same time, depressive symptoms can increase the probability that the woman may experience violence (Howard et al., 2013).

Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain this higher vulnerability conferred by stressful experiences. In fact, being exposed to a traumatic event leads to clear psychobiological changes that alter the ability to adjust and cope with subsequent stressful events. In particular, childhood maltreatment is a predisposing factor in the persistent activation of the two main biological systems involved in the stress response, the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal (HPA) axis and the inflammatory system (Baumeister et al., 2014; Pariante and Lightman, 2008). The hyperactivity of these two systems is also present in depression, and it is therefore considered to be part of its pathogenesis. As both systems are over-stimulated during normal pregnancy, this may make mothers more susceptible to depression in the context of previous exposure to childhood maltreatment (Danese et al., 2007; Heim et al., 2008; Pariante et al., 2014; Pariante and Lightman, 2008; Robertson-Blackmore et al., 2013). Psychological mechanisms, including reactivation of a previous sexual trauma during pregnancy, experiences and feelings of shame, and low self-esteem, are also very important (Mezey et al., 2005; Plant et al., 2013).

Together with partner/social support and satisfaction in the marital relationship, other potential protective factors that have been identified in this review are active coping, high self-esteem and high self-efficacy (Edwards et al., 2008; Zeng et al., 2015). In fact, these self-schema constructs are considered part of the phenomenology of depression and could possible mediate the relationship between adverse events in life and depression (Ginsburg et al., 2008). Education may also possibly function as a protective factor, via enhancing feelings of self-worth and reducing feelings of shame, which in turn may contribute to reduce depressive and anxiety symptoms (Nasreen et al., 2011).

A previous review investigating risk factors for antenatal depression was conducted by Lancaster et al. (2010). They found that maternal anxiety, life stress, history of depression, lack of support, domestic violence, unintended pregnancy, low income, lower education, single status, and poor relationship with partner were associated with depressive symptoms during pregnancy in bivariate analyses. Life stress, lack of social support and domestic violence continued to be associated with antenatal depression also in multivariate analyses. Inconsistent results were found for smoking, alcohol and drug use, parity, ethnic group and age, while no significant association was found with employment and obstetric history (Lancaster et al., 2010). Our review addressed a considerable limitation of this previous work, as they considered only studies performed in high-income countries. In fact, we have included studies conducted in low-, middle- and high- income countries, and this increases our power to generalize the results to a wider population. Similarly to Lancaster at al., our review has found that life-time adversities, history of depression, lack of support, domestic violence, unintended pregnancy, low education, lower income and poor relationship with partner are associated with antenatal depression and anxiety. Similar to Lancaster et al., we also found no or inconsistent evidence for alcohol, substance abuse, age and employment. Contrary to Lancaster et al., we have found that obstetric history is a strong predictor of depression and anxiety during pregnancy.

The results of this review confirm previous evidence that mood disorders during pregnancy and early parenthood have a complex and multi-factorial aetiology (Bilszta et al., 2008) where multiple factors are involved in the onset of depression and anxiety during pregnancy. Indeed, Leigh and Milgrom have proposed an interesting psychosocial model to help understand the diversity of these factors: they suggested that predisposing factors, antenatal stressors, and personal resources, all interact and concur in the development and maintenance of antenatal depression, and subsequently of postnatal depression and parenting stress (Leigh and Milgrom, 2008). According to this model, predisposing factors, such as a personal history of depression, a childhood history of abuse, low income, young age, and low education, make the woman vulnerable to the onset of antenatal depression. Poor personal resources, such as low self-esteem, negative cognitive style and low social support, make it more difficult for the mother-to-be to adjust positively to the changes in the transition to motherhood. Antenatal stressors, such as antenatal anxiety and stressful life events, can also work negatively to increase the risk of antenatal depression. Other factors involved in this complex process are biological (e.g., changes in the level of hormones) and socio-cultural (e.g., unrealistic beliefs and representation of motherhood as an exclusive time of joy) (Milgrom et al., 1999).

The process whereby personal susceptibility is activated by stressful events and other kinds of current factors is also well described by the 'Earthquake Model' of Sichel and Driscoll, developed with the aim of conceptualizing women's mental health and its treatment. Sichel and Driscoll (1999) suggest that the genetic makeup of each woman, her hormonal and reproductive history, and experiences during her lifespan, all combine to predict her risk of an "earthquake" at critical times in life such as childbirth (Sichel and Driscoll, 1999).

5. Limitations

A few limitations of this review should be mentioned. We did not conduct a meta-analysis of the findings, which may have added additional information about the differential impact of each risk factor. Nevertheless, most of the risk factors described in this review have been independently replicated by a number of studies. Moreover, this review does not specifically examine factors that may influence the severity of episodes of depression or anxiety, or the onset of different types of anxiety disorders. Furthermore, it has not been possible to assess the cumulative effects of different factors; however, this limitation is mainly due to the lack of studies addressing these questions. This systematic review has also excluded studies based on high-risk populations, such as women exposed to major environmental catastrophes, like earthquakes or tsunamis, studies conducted on women with preexisting health conditions, such as HIV or obesity, or with health conditions associated with pregnancy, such as diabetes, and women with babies with congenital anomalies. Therefore, the generalizability of the findings to these populations may be limited, as studies in these high-risk populations may have possibly led to different risk factors. Moreover, studies that have examined potential risk factors related to physical health have been excluded, as the main aim of this review was to investigate the psycho-social, environmental and obstetric risk factors involved in the onset of antenatal depression and anxiety in the wider, physically healthy population of women. Finally, papers not written in English have been excluded, and therefore some interesting studies may have not been considered.

6. Conclusions

Pregnancy is a time of increased vulnerability for the development of anxiety and mood disorders. Some women may experience their first depressive episode during pregnancy, while others are at risk of recurrence due to a previous history of depression and anxiety (Raisanen et al., 2014). Many studies have investigated the main risk factors involved in the onset of antenatal depression and anxiety and have highlighted a complex multi-factorial aetiology (Lancaster et al., 2010; Leigh and Milgrom, 2008). Different sources of psychosocial, environmental, obstetric and pregnancy related risk factors have been highlighted in this review. Correctly identifying the women at risk of suffering from antenatal anxiety and depression would give us the opportunity to target those women who would benefit from preventive and supportive interventions. Also, identifying the women at risk would allow us to follow them up during the course of their pregnancy and recognize earlier symptoms of depression and

anxiety as they develop, and therefore implement therapeutic interventions if needed. This is now even more relevant, since most recent studies have shown a reassuring safety profile for antidepressant treatment in pregnancy (reviewed in Pariante, 2015) and have identified effective non-pharmacological treatments (Bowen et al., 2014; Su et al., 2008; Thomas et al., 2014), although more research is still need to be done regarding the effectiveness of non-pharmacological interventions during pregnancy.

Funding sources

The National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children (NSPCC) funded this review.

Professor Pariante is also funded by the UK National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Biomedical Research Centre for Mental Health at the South London and Maudsley NHS Trust and King's College London.

Professor Pariante's research is supported by grants MR/ J002739/1 and MR/L014815/1 from the Medical Research Council (UK).

Contributions

The corresponding author managed the literature searches and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. The other authors reviewed the first draft and finalized the paper.

All authors contributed to and have approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children (NSPCC) who funded this review. The review has been commissioned in order to guide the implementation of preventive interventions to promote parental mental health during the perinatal period. The authors would also like to thank the South London and Maudsley NHS Trust, King's College London and the Medical Research Council United Kingdom, who funded Professor Carmine Pariante.

References

- Abuidhail, J., Abujilban, S., 2014. Characteristics of Jordanian depressed pregnant women: a comparison study. J. Psychiatr. Ment. Health Nurs. 21, 573–579.
- Abujilban, S.K., Abuidhail, J., Al-Modallal, H., Hamaideh, S., Mosemli, O., 2014. Predictors of antenatal depression among Jordanian pregnant women in their third trimester. Health Care Women Int. 35, 200–215.
- Adewuya, A.O., Ola, B.A., Aloba, O.O., Dada, A.O., Fasoto, O.O., 2007. Prevalence and correlates of depression in late pregnancy among Nigerian women. Depress. Anxiety 24, 15–21.
- Agostini, F., Neri, E., Salvatori, P., Dellabartola, S., Bozicevic, L., Monti, F., 2015. Antenatal depressive symptoms associated with specific life events and sources of social support among Italian women. Matern. Child Health J. 19, 1131–1141.
- Ajinkya, S., Jadhav, P.R., Šrivastava, N.N., 2013. Depression during pregnancy: Prevalence and obstetric risk factors among pregnant women attending a tertiary care hospital in Navi Mumbai. Ind. Psychiatry J. 22, 37–40.Akcal, X.A.P., Ayd, X.N.N., Yaz, X.C.X.E., Aksoy, A.N., Kirkan, T.S., Daloglu, G.A., 2014.
- Akcal, X.A.P., Ayd, X.N.N., Yaz, X.C.X.E., Aksoy, A.N., Kirkan, T.S., Daloglu, G.A., 2014. Prevalence of depressive disorders and related factors in women in the first trimester of their pregnancies in Erzurum, Turkey. Int. J. Soc. Psychiatry.
- Ali, N.S., Azam, I.S., Ali, B.S., Tabbusum, G., Moin, S.S., 2012. Frequency and associated factors for anxiety and depression in pregnant women: a hospital-based cross-sectional study. Sci. World J. 2012, 653098.
- Alipour, Z., Lamyian, M., Hajizadeh, E., 2012. Anxiety and fear of childbirth as predictors of postnatal depression in nulliparous women. Women Birth 25, e37–e43.
- Ammaniti, M., Trentini, C., 2009. How new knowledge about parenting reveals the neurobiological implications of intersubjectivity: a conceptual synthesis of recent research. HPSD 19, 537–555.
- Andersson, L., Sundstrom-Poromaa, I., Bixo, M., Wulff, M., Bondestam, K., aStrom, M., 2003. Point prevalence of psychiatric disorders during the second trimester of pregnancy: a population-based study. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 189, 148–154.
- Andersson, L., Sundstrom-Poromaa, I., Wulff, M., Astrom, M., Bixo, M., 2004.

Neonatal outcome following maternal antenatal depression and anxiety: a population-based study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 159, 872–881.

- Andersson, L., Sundstrom-Poromaa, I., Wulff, M., Astrom, M., Bixo, M., 2006. Depression and anxiety during pregnancy and six months postpartum: a followup study. Acta Obstet. Scand. 85, 937–944.
- Apter, G., Devouche, E., Garez, V., Valente, M., Genet, M.C., Gratier, M., Belaisch-Allart, J., 2013. Pregnancy, somatic complaints and depression: a French population-based study. Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol. 171, 35–39.
- Armstrong, D.S., 2004. Impact of prior perinatal loss on subsequent pregnancies. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Neonatal Nurs. 33, 765–773.
- Austin, M.P., 2014. Marce International Society position statement on psychosocial assessment and depression screening in perinatal women. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Obstet. Gynaecol. 28, 179–187.
- Balestrieri, M., Isola, M., Bisoffi, G., Calo, S., Conforti, A., Driul, L., Marchesoni, D., Petrosemolo, P., Rossi, M., Zito, A., Zorzenone, S., Di Sciascio, G., Leone, R., Bellantuono, C., 2012. Determinants of ante-partum depression: a multicenter study. Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol. 47, 1959–1965.
- Baumeister, D., Russell, A., Pariante, C.M., Mondelli, V., 2014. Inflammatory biomarker profiles of mental disorders and their relation to clinical, social and lifestyle factors. Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol. 49, 841–849.
- Bayrampour, H., McDonald, S., Tough, S., 2015. Risk factors of transient and persistent anxiety during pregnancy. Midwifery 31, 582–589.
- Beck, C.T., 2001. Predictors of postpartum depression: an update. Nurs. Res. 50, 275–285.
- Bennett, H.A., Einarson, A., Taddio, A., Koren, G., Einarson, T.R., 2004. Prevalence of depression during pregnancy: systematic review. Obstet. Gynecol. 103, 698–709.
- Bergner, A., Beyer, R., Klapp, B.F., Rauchfuss, M., 2008. Pregnancy after early pregnancy loss: a prospective study of anxiety, depressive symptomatology and coping. J. Psychosom. Obstet. Gynaecol. 29, 105–113.
- Bicking Kinsey, C., Baptiste-Roberts, K., Zhu, J., Kjerulff, K.H., 2015. Effect of previous miscarriage on depressive symptoms during subsequent pregnancy and post-partum in the first baby study. Matern. Child Health J. 19, 391–400.
- Bilszta, J.L., Tang, M., Meyer, D., Milgrom, J., Ericksen, J., Buist, A.E., 2008. Single motherhood versus poor partner relationship: outcomes for antenatal mental health. Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 42, 56–65.
- Bodecs, T., Szilagyi, E., Cholnoky, P., Sandor, J., Gonda, X., Rihmer, Z., Horvath, B., 2013. Prevalence and psychosocial background of anxiety and depression emerging during the first trimester of pregnancy: data from a Hungarian population-based sample. Psychiatr. Danub. 25, 352–358.
- Bottomley, K.L., Lancaster, S.J., 2008. The association between depressive symptoms and smoking in pregnant adolescents. Psychol. Health Med. 13, 574–582.
- Bowen, A., Baetz, M., Schwartz, L., Balbuena, L., Muhajarine, N., 2014. Antenatal group therapy improves worry and depression symptoms. Isr. J. Psychiatry Relat. Sci. 51, 226–231.
- Bowen, A., Muhajarine, N., 2006a. Antenatal depression. Can. Nurse 102, 26–30.
- Bowen, A., Muhajarine, N., 2006b. Prevalence of antenatal depression in women enrolled in an outreach program in Canada. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Neonatal Nurs. 35, 491–498.
- Bowen, A., Stewart, N., Baetz, M., Muhajarine, N., 2009. Antenatal depression in socially high-risk women in Canada. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 63, 414–416.
- Brittain, K., Myer, L., Koen, N., Koopowitz, S., Donald, K.A., Barnett, W., Zar, H.J., Stein, D.J., 2015. Risk factors for antenatal depression and associations with infant birth outcomes: results from a South African Birth Cohort Study. Paediatr. Perinat. Epidemiol.
- Bunevicius, R., Kusminskas, L., Bunevicius, A., Nadisauskiene, R.J., Jureniene, K., Pop, V.J., 2009. Psychosocial risk factors for depression during pregnancy. Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand. 88, 599–605.
- Canady, R.B., Bullen, B.L., Holzman, C., Broman, C., Tian, Y., 2008. Discrimination and symptoms of depression in pregnancy among African American and White women. Womens Health Issues 18, 292–300.
- Chojenta, C., Harris, S., Reilly, N., Forder, P., Austin, M.P., Loxton, D., 2014. History of pregnancy loss increases the risk of mental health problems in subsequent pregnancies but not in the postpartum. PLoS One 9, e95038.
- Cobb, S., 1976. Presidential Address-1976. Social support as a moderator of life stress. Psychosom. Med. 38, 300–314.
- Cohen, S., Wills, T.A., 1985. Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. Psychol. Bull. 98, 310–357.
- Cooklin, A.R., Rowe, H.J., Fisher, J.R., 2007. Employee entitlements during pregnancy and maternal psychological well-being. Aust. N. Z. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 47, 483–490.
- Csatordai, S., Kozinszky, Z., Devosa, I., Toth, E., Krajcsi, A., Sefcsik, T., Pal, A., 2007. Obstetric and sociodemographic risk of vulnerability to postnatal depression. Patient Educ. Couns. 67, 84–92.
- D'Anna-Hernandez, K.L., Zerbe, G.O., Hunter, S.K., Ross, R.G., 2013. Paternal psychopathology and maternal depressive symptom trajectory during the first year postpartum. Ment. Illn. 5, e1.
- Danese, A., Pariante, C.M., Caspi, A., Taylor, A., Poulton, R., 2007. Childhood maltreatment predicts adult inflammation in a life-course study. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104, 1319–1324.
- Dibaba, Y., Fantahun, M., Hindin, M.J., 2013. The association of unwanted pregnancy and social support with depressive symptoms in pregnancy: evidence from rural Southwestern Ethiopia. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 13, 135.
- Dmitrovic, B.K., Dugalic, M.G., Balkoski, G.N., Dmitrovic, A., Soldatovic, I., 2014.

Frequency of perinatal depression in Serbia and associated risk factors. Int. J. Soc. Psychiatry 60, 528–532.

- Dunkel Schetter, C., Tanner, L., 2012. Anxiety, depression and stress in pregnancy: implications for mothers, children, research, and practice. Curr. Opin. Psychiatry 25, 141–148.
- Edge, D., 2007. Ethnicity, psychosocial risk, and perinatal depression–a comparative study among inner-city women in the United Kingdom. J. Psychosom. Res. 63, 291–295.
- Edwards, B., Galletly, C., Semmler-Booth, T., Dekker, G., 2008. Antenatal psychosocial risk factors and depression among women living in socioeconomically disadvantaged suburbs in Adelaide, South Australia. Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 42, 45–50.
- Elsenbruch, S., Benson, S., Rucke, M., Rose, M., Dudenhausen, J., Pincus-Knackstedt, M.K., Klapp, B.F., Arck, P.C., 2007. Social support during pregnancy: effects on maternal depressive symptoms, smoking and pregnancy outcome. Hum. Reprod. 22, 869–877.
- Evans, J., Heron, J., Francomb, H., Oke, S., Golding, J., 2001. Cohort study of de-
- pressed mood during pregnancy and after childbirth. Br. Med. J. 323, 257–260. Faisal-Cury, A., Menezes, P., Araya, R., Zugaib, M., 2009. Common mental disorders during pregnancy: prevalence and associated factors among low-income women in Sao Paulo, Brazil: depression and anxiety during pregnancy. Arch. Womens Ment Health 12, 335–343.
- Faisal-Cury, A., Rossi Menezes, P., 2007. Prevalence of anxiety and depression during pregnancy in a private setting sample. Arch. Womens Ment. Health 10, 25–32.
- Fellenzer, J.L., Cibula, D.A., 2014. Intendedness of pregnancy and other predictive factors for symptoms of prenatal depression in a population-based study. Matern. Child Health J. 18, 2426–2436.
- Figueiredo, B., Pacheco, A., Costa, R., 2007. Depression during pregnancy and the postpartum period in adolescent and adult Portuguese mothers. Arch. Womens Ment. Health 10, 103–109.
- Fisher, J., Tran, T., Duc Tran, T., Dwyer, T., Nguyen, T., Casey, G.J., Anne Simpson, J., Hanieh, S., Biggs, B.A., 2013. Prevalence and risk factors for symptoms of common mental disorders in early and late pregnancy in Vietnamese women: a prospective population-based study. J. Affect. Disord. 146, 213–219.
- Fisher, J., Tran, T., La, B.T., Kriitmaa, K., Rosenthal, D., Tran, T., 2010. Common perinatal mental disorders in northern Viet Nam: community prevalence and health care use. Bull. World Health Organ. 88, 737–745.
- Fonseca-Machado Mde, O., Alves, L.C., Monteiro, J.C., Stefanello, J., Nakano, A.M., Haas, V.J., Gomes-Sponholz, F., 2015. Depressive disorder in pregnant Latin women: does intimate partner violence matter? J. Clin. Nurs. 24, 1289–1299.
- Gavin, A.R., Melville, J.L., Rue, T., Guo, Y., Dina, K.T., Katon, W.J., 2011. Racial differences in the prevalence of antenatal depression. Gen. Hosp. Psychiatry 33, 87–93.
- Gavin, N.I., Gaynes, B.N., Lohr, K.N., Meltzer-Brody, S., Gartlehner, G., Swinson, T., 2005. Perinatal depression: a systematic review of prevalence and incidence. Obstet. Gynecol. 106, 1071–1083.
- Giardinelli, L., Innocenti, A., Benni, L., Stefanini, M.C., Lino, G., Lunardi, C., Svelto, V., Afshar, S., Bovani, R., Castellini, G., Faravelli, C., 2012. Depression and anxiety in perinatal period: prevalence and risk factors in an Italian sample. Arch. Womens Ment. Health 15, 21–30.
- Ginsburg, G.S., Baker, E.V., Mullany, B.C., Barlow, A., Goklish, N., Hastings, R., Thurm, A.E., Speakman, K., Reid, R., Walkup, J., 2008. Depressive symptoms among reservation-based pregnant American Indian adolescents. Matern. Child Health J. 12 (Suppl. 1), S110–S118.
- Glazier, R.H., Elgar, F.J., Goel, V., Holzapfel, S., 2004. Stress, social support, and emotional distress in a community sample of pregnant women. J. Psychosom. Obstet. Gynaecol. 25, 247–255.
- Glover, V., 2014. Maternal depression, anxiety and stress during pregnancy and child outcome; what needs to be done. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Obstet. Gynaecol. 28, 25–35.
- Glover, V., 2015. Prenatal stress and its effects on the fetus and the child: possible underlying biological mechanisms. Adv. Neurobiol. 10, 269–283.Golbasi, Z., Kelleci, M., Kisacik, G., Cetin, A., 2010. Prevalence and correlates of de-
- Golbasi, Z., Kelleci, M., Kisacik, G., Cetin, A., 2010. Prevalence and correlates of depression in pregnancy among Turkish women. Matern. Child Health J. 14, 485–491.
- Gong, X., Hao, J., Tao, F., Zhang, J., Wang, H., Xu, R., 2013. Pregnancy loss and anxiety and depression during subsequent pregnancies: data from the C-ABC study. Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol. 166, 30–36.
- Grant, K.A., Bautovich, A., McMahon, C., Reilly, N., Leader, L., Austin, M.P., 2012. Parental care and control during childhood: associations with maternal perinatal mood disturbance and parenting stress. Arch. Womens Ment. Health 15, 297–305.
- Groves, A.K., Kagee, A., Maman, S., Moodley, D., Rouse, P., 2012. Associations between intimate partner violence and emotional distress among pregnant women in Durban, South Africa. J. Interpers. Violence 27, 1341–1356.
- Hartley, M., Tomlinson, M., Greco, E., Comulada, W.S., Stewart, J., le Roux, I., Mbewu, N., Rotheram-Borus, M.J., 2011. Depressed mood in pregnancy: prevalence and correlates in two Cape Town peri-urban settlements. Reprod. Health 8, 9.
- Heim, C., Newport, D.J., Mletzko, T., Miller, A.H., Nemeroff, C.B., 2008. The link between childhood trauma and depression: insights from HPA axis studies in humans. Psychoneuroendocrinology 33, 693–710.
- Heron, J., O'Connor, T.G., Evans, J., Golding, J., Glover, V., 2004. The course of anxiety and depression through pregnancy and the postpartum in a community sample. J. Affect. Disord. 80, 65–73.
- Holzman, C., Eyster, J., Tiedje, L.B., Roman, L.A., Seagull, E., Rahbar, M.H., 2006. A life

course perspective on depressive symptoms in mid-pregnancy. Matern. Child Health J. 10, 127–138.

- Howard, L.M., Oram, S., Galley, H., Trevillion, K., Feder, G., 2013. Domestic violence and perinatal mental disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med. 10, e1001452.
- Husain, N., Cruickshank, K., Husain, M., Khan, S., Tomenson, B., Rahman, A., 2012. Social stress and depression during pregnancy and in the postnatal period in British Pakistani mothers: a cohort study. J. Affect. Disord. 140, 268–276.
- Husain, N., Parveen, A., Husain, M., Saeed, Q., Jafri, F., Rahman, R., Tomenson, B., Chaudhry, I.B., 2011. Prevalence and psychosocial correlates of perinatal depression: a cohort study from urban Pakistan. Arch. Womens Ment. Health 14, 395–403.
- Jeong, H.G., Lim, J.S., Lee, M.S., Kim, S.H., Jung, I.K., Joe, S.H., 2013. The association of psychosocial factors and obstetric history with depression in pregnant women: focus on the role of emotional support. Gen. Hosp. Psychiatry 35, 354–358.
- Jesse, D.E., Walcott-McQuigg, J., Mariella, A., Swanson, M.S., 2005. Risks and protective factors associated with symptoms of depression in low-income African American and Caucasian women during pregnancy. J. Midwifery Womens Health 50, 405–410.
- Josefsson, A., Angelsioo, L., Berg, G., Ekstrom, C.M., Gunnervik, C., Nordin, C., Sydsjo, G., 2002. Obstetric, somatic, and demographic risk factors for postpartum depressive symptoms. Obstet. Gynecol. 99, 223–228.
- Karmaliani, R., Asad, N., Bann, C.M., Moss, N., McClure, E.M., Pasha, O., Wright, L.L., Goldenberg, R.L., 2009. Prevalence of anxiety, depression and associated factors among pregnant women of Hyderabad, Pakistan. Int. J. Soc. Psychiatry 55, 414–424.
- Kim, H.G., Mandell, M., Crandall, C., Kuskowski, M.A., Dieperink, B., Buchberger, R.L., 2006. Antenatal psychiatric illness and adequacy of prenatal care in an ethnically diverse inner-city obstetric population. Arch. Womens Ment. Health 9, 103–107.
- Klein, M.H., Essex, M.J., 1994. Pregnant or depressed? The effect of overlap between symptoms of depression and somatic complaints of pregnancy on rates of major depression in the second trimester. Depression 2, 308–314.
- Lancaster, C.A., Gold, K.J., Flynn, H.A., Yoo, H., Marcus, S.M., Davis, M.M., 2010. Risk factors for depressive symptoms during pregnancy: a systematic review. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 202, 5–14.
- Lanzi, R.G., Bert, S.C., Jacobs, B.K., 2009. Depression among a sample of first-time adolescent and adult mothers. J. Child Adolesc. Psychiatr. Nurs. 22, 194–202.
- Lara-Carrasco, J., Simard, V., Saint-Onge, K., Lamoureux-Tremblay, V., Nielsen, T., 2013. Maternal representations in the dreams of pregnant women: a prospective comparative study. Front. Psychol. 4, 551.
- Lee, A.M., Lam, S.K., Sze Mun Lau, S.M., Chong, C.S., Chui, H.W., Fong, D.Y., 2007. Prevalence, course, and risk factors for antenatal anxiety and depression. Obstet. Gynecol. 110, 1102–1112.
- Leigh, B., Milgrom, J., 2008. Risk factors for antenatal depression, postnatal depression and parenting stress. BMC Psychiatry 8, 24.
- Luke, S., Salihu, H.M., Alio, A.P., Mbah, A.K., Jeffers, D., Berry, E.L., Mishkit, V.R., 2009. Risk factors for major antenatal depression among low-income African American women. J. Womens Health (Larchmt) 18, 1841–1846.
- Lydsdottir, L.B., Howard, L.M., Olafsdottir, H., Thome, M., Tyrfingsson, P., Sigurdsson, J.F., 2014. The mental health characteristics of pregnant women with depressive symptoms identified by the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. J. Clin. Psychiatry 75, 393–398.
- Mahenge, B., Likindikoki, S., Stockl, H., Mbwambo, J., 2013. Intimate partner violence during pregnancy and associated mental health symptoms among pregnant women in Tanzania: a cross-sectional study. BJOG 120, 940–946.
- Manikkam, L., Burns, J.K., 2012. Antenatal depression and its risk factors: an urban prevalence study in KwaZulu-Natal. S. Afr. Med. J. 102, 940–944.
- Marchesi, C., Ampollini, P., Paraggio, C., Giaracuni, G., Ossola, P., De Panfilis, C., Tonna, M., Viviani, D., 2014. Risk factors for panic disorder in pregnancy: a cohort study. J. Affect. Disord. 156, 134–138.
- Marchesi, C., Bertoni, S., Maggini, C., 2009. Major and minor depression in pregnancy. Obstet. Gynecol. 113, 1292–1298.
- Marcus, S.M., 2009. Depression during pregnancy: rates, risks and consequences motherisk Update 2008. Can. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 16, e15–e22.Marcus, S.M., Flynn, H.A., Blow, F.C., Barry, K.L., 2003. Depressive symptoms among
- Marcus, S.M., Flynn, H.A., Blow, F.C., Barry, K.L., 2003. Depressive symptoms among pregnant women screened in obstetrics settings. J. Womens Health (Larchmt) 12, 373–380.
- Martin, S.L., Li, Y., Casanueva, C., Harris-Britt, A., Kupper, L.L., Cloutier, S., 2006. Intimate partner violence and women's depression before and during pregnancy. Violence Women 12, 221–239.
- Martini, J., Petzoldt, J., Einsle, F., Beesdo-Baum, K., Hofler, M., Wittchen, H.U., 2015. Risk factors and course patterns of anxiety and depressive disorders during pregnancy and after delivery: a prospective-longitudinal study. J. Affect. Disord. 175c, 385–395.
- Melville, J.L., Gavin, A., Guo, Y., Fan, M.Y., Katon, W.J., 2010. Depressive disorders during pregnancy: prevalence and risk factors in a large urban sample. Obstet. Gynecol. 116, 1064–1070.
- Mezey, G., Bacchus, L., Bewley, S., White, S., 2005. Domestic violence, lifetime trauma and psychological health of childbearing women. BJOG 112, 197–204.
- Milgrom, J., Gemmill, A.W., 2014. Screening for perinatal depression. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Obstet. Gynaecol. 28, 13–23.
- Milgrom, J., Martin, P.R., Negri, L.M., 1999. Treating postnatal depression: a psychological approach for health care practitioners. John Wiley.
- Miszkurka, M., Zunzunegui, M.V., Goulet, L., 2012. Immigrant status, antenatal

depressive symptoms, and frequency and source of violence: what's the relationship? Arch. Womens Ment. Health 15, 387–396.

- Mohamad Yusuff, A.S., Tang, L., Binns, C.W., Lee, A.H., 2015. Prevalence of antenatal depressive symptoms among women in Sabah, Malaysia. J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal Med., 1–5.
- Mohammad, K.I., Gamble, J., Creedy, D.K., 2011. Prevalence and factors associated with the development of antenatal and postnatal depression among Jordanian women. Midwifery 27, e238–e245.
- Murray, D., Cox, J.L., 1990. Screening for depression during pregnancy with the edinburgh depression scale (EDDS). J. Reprod. Infant Psychol. 8, 99–107.
- Nasreen, H.E., Kabir, Z.N., Forsell, Y., Edhborg, M., 2011. Prevalence and associated factors of depressive and anxiety symptoms during pregnancy: a population based study in rural Bangladesh. BMC Womens Health 11, 22.
- NICE, 2014. Antenatal and Postnatal Mental Health: Clinical Management and Service Guidance. NICE Clinical Guideline 192. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE).
- Norhayati, M.N., Hazlina, N.H., Asrenee, A.R., Emilin, W.M., 2015. Magnitude and risk factors for postpartum symptoms: a literature review. J. Affect. Disord. 175, 34–52.
- O'Connor, T.G., Heron, J., Glover, V., Alspac Study, 2002. Antenatal anxiety predicts child behavioral/emotional problems independently of postnatal depression. J. Am. Acad. Child. Adolesc. Psychiatry 41, 1470–1477.

O'hara, M.W., Swain, A.M., 1996a. Rates and risk of postpartum depression – a meta-analysis. Int. Rev. Psychiatry 8, 37–54.

- Pariante, C., Conroy, S., Dazzan, P., Howard, L., Pawlby, S., Seneviratne, T., 2014. Perinatal Psychiatry: the Legacy of Channi Kumar. Oxford University Press.
- Pariante, C.M., 2014. Depression during pregnancy: molecular regulations of mothers' and children's behaviour. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 42, 582–586.
- Pariante, C.M., 2015. Depression and antidepressants in pregnancy: molecular and psychosocial mechanisms affecting offspring's physical and mental health. Neuropsychopharmacology 40, 246–247.
- Pariante, C.M., Lightman, S.L., 2008. The HPA axis in major depression: classical theories and new developments. Trends Neurosci. 31, 464–468.
- Parsons, C.E., Young, K.S., Rochat, T.J., Kringelbach, M.L., Stein, A., 2012. Postnatal depression and its effects on child development: a review of evidence from low- and middle-income countries. Br. Med. Bull. 101, 57–79.
- Paulson, J.F., Bazemore, S.D., 2010. Prenatal and postpartum depression in fathers and its association with maternal depression: a meta-analysis. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 303, 1961–1969.
- Pawlby, S., Hay, D., Sharp, D., Waters, C.S., Pariante, C.M., 2011. Antenatal depression and offspring psychopathology: the influence of childhood maltreatment. Br. J. Psychiatry 199, 106–112.
- Plant, D.T., Barker, E.D., Waters, C.S., Pawlby, S., Pariante, C.M., 2013. Intergenerational transmission of maltreatment and psychopathology: the role of antenatal depression. Psychol. Med. 43, 519–528.
- Plant, D.T., Pariante, C.M., Sharp, D., Pawlby, S., 2015. Maternal depression during pregnancy and offspring depression in adulthood: role of child maltreatment. Br J Psychiatry 207, 213–220.
- Posternak, M.A., Zimmerman, M., 2001. Symptoms of atypical depression. Psychiatry Res. 104, 175–181.
- Prady, S.L., Pickett, K.E., Croudace, T., Fairley, L., Bloor, K., Gilbody, S., Kiernan, K.E., Wright, J., 2013. Psychological distress during pregnancy in a multi-ethnic community: findings from the born in Bradford cohort study. PLoS One 8, e60693.
- Previti, G., Pawlby, S., Chowdhury, S., Aguglia, E., Pariante, C.M., 2014. Neurodevelopmental outcome for offspring of women treated for antenatal depression: a systematic review. Arch. Womens Ment. Health 17, 471–483.
- Qiao, Y.X., Wang, J., Li, J., Ablat, A., 2009. The prevalence and related risk factors of anxiety and depression symptoms among Chinese pregnant women in Shanghai. Aust. N. Z. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 49, 185–190.
- Raisanen, S., Lehto, S.M., Nielsen, H.S., Gissler, M., Kramer, M.R., Heinonen, S., 2014. Risk factors for and perinatal outcomes of major depression during pregnancy: a population-based analysis during 2002–2010 in Finland. BMJ Open 4, e004883.
- Raphael-Leff, J., 2010. Mothers' and fathers' orientations: patterns of pregnancy, parenting and the bonding process. Parenthood and Mental Health. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Ratcliff, B.G., Sharapova, A., Suardi, F., Borel, F., 2015. Factors associated with antenatal depression and obstetric complications in immigrant women in Geneva. Midwifery.
- Records, K., Rice, M., 2007. Psychosocial correlates of depression symptoms during the third trimester of pregnancy. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Neonatal Nurs. 36, 231–242.
- Redshaw, M., Henderson, J., 2013. From antenatal to postnatal depression: associated factors and mitigating influences. J. Womens Health (Larchmt) 22, 518–525.
- Rich-Edwards, J.W., James-Todd, T., Mohllajee, A., Kleinman, K., Burke, A., Gillman, M.W., Wright, R.J., 2011. Lifetime maternal experiences of abuse and risk of prenatal depression in two demographically distinct populations in Boston. Int. J. Epidemiol. 40, 375–384.
- Rich-Edwards, J.W., Kleinman, K., Abrams, A., Harlow, B.L., McLaughlin, T.J., Joffe, H., Gillman, M.W., 2006. Sociodemographic predictors of antenatal and postpartum depressive symptoms among women in a medical group practice. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 60, 221–227.
- Robertson, E., Grace, S., Wallington, T., Stewart, D.E., 2004. Antenatal risk factors for

postpartum depression: a synthesis of recent literature. Gen. Hosp. Psychiatry 26, 289–295.

- Robertson-Blackmore, E., Putnam, F.W., Rubinow, D.R., Matthieu, M., Hunn, J.E., Putnam, K.T., Moynihan, J.A., O'Connor, T.G., 2013. Antecedent trauma exposure and risk of depression in the perinatal period. J. Clin. Psychiatry 74, e942–e948.
- Rodriguez, M.A., Heilemann, M.V., Fielder, E., Ang, A., Nevarez, F., Mangione, C.M., 2008. Intimate partner violence, depression, and PTSD among pregnant Latina women. Ann. Fam. Med. 6, 44–52.
- Rubertsson, C., Hellstrom, J., Cross, M., Sydsjo, G., 2014. Anxiety in early pregnancy: prevalence and contributing factors. Arch. Womens Ment. Health.
- Rubertsson, C., Waldenström, U., Wickberg, B., 2003. Depressive mood in early pregnancy: prevalence and women at risk in a national Swedish sample. J. Reprod. Infant Psychol. 21, 113–123.
- Seng, J.S., D'Andrea, W., Ford, J.D., 2014. Complex mental health sequelae of psychological trauma among women in prenatal care. Psychol. Trauma 6, 41–49.
- Shakeel, N., Eberhard-Gran, M., Sletner, L., Slinning, K., Martinsen, E.W., Holme, I., Jenum, A.K., 2015. A prospective cohort study of depression in pregnancy, prevalence and risk factors in a multi-ethnic population. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 15, 5.
- Shen, J.J., Lin, F., Jackson, T., 2010. Risk of prenatal depression: differences by race. Ethn. Dis. 20, 35–39.
- Sichel, D., Driscoll, J.W., 1999. Women's Moods: What Every Woman Must Know About Hormones, The Brain, and Emotional Health. HarperCollins.
- Siegel, R.S., Brandon, A.R., 2014. Adolescents, pregnancy, and mental health. J. Pediatr. Adolesc. Gynecol.
- Simpson, J.A., Rholes, W.S., Campbell, L., Tran, S., Wilson, C.L., 2003. Adult attachment, the transition to parenthood, and depressive symptoms. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 84, 1172–1187.
- Smedberg, J., Lupattelli, A., Mardby, A.C., Overland, S., Nordeng, H., 2015. The relationship between maternal depression and smoking cessation during pregnancy – a cross-sectional study of pregnant women from 15 European countries. Arch. Womens Ment. Health 18, 73–84.
- Smith, M.V., Shao, L., Howell, H., Lin, H., Yonkers, K.A., 2011. Perinatal depression and birth outcomes in a Healthy Start project. Matern. Child Health J. 15, 401–409.
- Sockol, L.E., Epperson, C.N., Barber, J.P., 2014. The relationship between maternal attitudes and symptoms of depression and anxiety among pregnant and postpartum first-time mothers. Arch. Womens Ment. Health 17, 199–212.
- Srinivasan, N., Murthy, S., Singh, A.K., Upadhyay, V., Mohan, S.K., Joshi, A., 2015. Assessment of burden of depression during pregnancy among pregnant women residing in rural setting of chennai. J. Clin. Diagn. Res. 9, Lc08–12.
- Stein, A., Pearson, R.M., Goodman, S.H., Rapa, E., Rahman, A., McCallum, M., Howard, L.M., Pariante, C.M., 2014. Effects of perinatal mental disorders on the fetus and child. Lancet 384, 1800–1819.
- Stewart, R.C., Umar, E., Tomenson, B., Creed, F., 2014. A cross-sectional study of antenatal depression and associated factors in Malawi. Arch. Womens Ment. Health 17, 145–154.
- Su, K.P., Huang, S.Y., Chiu, T.H., Huang, K.C., Huang, C.L., Chang, H.C., Pariante, C.M., 2008. Omega-3 fatty acids for major depressive disorder during

pregnancy: results from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. J. Clin. Psychiatry 69, 644–651.

- Thomas, N., Komiti, A., Judd, F., 2014. Pilot early intervention antenatal group program for pregnant women with anxiety and depression. Arch. Womens Ment, Health 17, 503–509.
- Tommy's, 2013. Perinatal mental health report. Experiences of Women and Health Professionals. Tommy's, Netmums, Institute of Health Visiting, Royal College of Midwives, Boots Family Trust.
- Van den Bergh, B.R., Mennes, M., Oosterlaan, J., Stevens, V., Stiers, P., Marcoen, A., Lagae, L., 2005. High antenatal maternal anxiety is related to impulsivity during performance on cognitive tasks in 14- and 15-year-olds. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 29, 259–269.
- Verreault, N., Da Costa, D., Marchand, A., Ireland, K., Dritsa, M., Khalife, S., 2014. Rates and risk factors associated with depressive symptoms during pregnancy and with postpartum onset. J. Psychosom. Obstet. Gynaecol. 35, 84–91.
- Waqas, A., Raza, N., Lodhi, H.W., Muhammad, Z., Jamal, M., Rehman, A., 2015. Psychosocial factors of antenatal anxiety and depression in pakistan: is social support a mediator? PLoS One 10, e0116510.
- Weobong, B., Soremekun, S., Ten Asbroek, A.H., Amenga-Etego, S., Danso, S., Owusu-Agyei, S., Prince, M., Kirkwood, B.R., 2014. Prevalence and determinants of antenatal depression among pregnant women in a predominantly rural population in Ghana: the DON population-based study. J. Affect. Disord. 165, 1–7.
- Westdahl, C., Milan, S., Magriples, U., Kershaw, T.S., Rising, S.S., Ickovics, J.R., 2007. Social support and social conflict as predictors of prenatal depression. Obstet. Gynecol. 110, 134–140.
- WHO, 2005. Report of a WHO Technical Consultation on Birth Spacing. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Williams, B., Healy, D., 2001. Disclosure of minor mental health problems: an exploratory theoretical study. J. Adv. Nurs. 35, 108–116.
- Williams, D.R., Yan, Y., Jackson, J.S., Anderson, N.B., 1997. Racial differences in physical and mental health: socio-economic status, stress and discrimination. J. Health Psychol. 2, 335–351.
- Woods, S.M., Melville, J.L., Guo, Y., Fan, M.Y., Gavin, A., 2010. Psychosocial stress during pregnancy. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 202 61.e1-7.
- Yanikkerem, E., Ay, S., Mutlu, S., Goker, A., 2013. Antenatal depression: prevalence and risk factors in a hospital based Turkish sample. J. Pak. Med. Assoc. 63, 472–477.
- Yonkers, K.A., Smith, M.V., Gotman, N., Belanger, K., 2009. Typical somatic symptoms of pregnancy and their impact on a diagnosis of major depressive disorder. Gen. Hosp. Psychiatry 31, 327–333.
- Zayas, L.H., Jankowski, K.R.B., McKee, M.D., 2003. Prenatal and postpartum depression among low-income dominican and Puerto Rican women. Hisp. J. Behav. Sci. 25, 370–385.
- Zelkowitz, P., Schinazi, J., Katofsky, L., Saucier, J.F., Valenzuela, M., Westreich, R., Dayan, J., 2004. Factors associated with depression in pregnant immigrant women. Transcult. Psychiatry 41, 445–464.
- Zeng, Y., Cui, Y., Li, J., 2015. Prevalence and predictors of antenatal depressive symptoms among Chinese women in their third trimester: a cross-sectional survey. BMC Psychiatry 15, 66.